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Results for announcement to the market

Revenue A$'000's up 30% to 452,260

EBIT  A$'000's up 35% to 111,543

Net profit for the period attributable to members  $A'000's up 34% to 80,032

Dividends (distributions) Amount per security Franked amount per

security

Final dividend 55.0c 55.0c
Interim dividend 45.0c 45.0c

Previous corresponding period 45.0c 45.0c

Record date for determining entitlements to the dividend 31 August 2006

Dividend payment date  21 September 2006

 

Annual meeting

The annual meeting will be held as follows:
Place Four Seasons Hotel

199 George Street Sydney
Date 24 October, 2006

Time 2.00 pm

Approximate date the annual report will be 25th September 2006
available
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Financial  Performance 
 
Total revenue for the year increased 30% to a record $452.3 million (compared to $349.0 million in 
F05).  This improvement in sales was driven by an increase in cochlear implant revenues (+24%), 
and full year contribution from Baha and Vistafix product lines acquired in March 2005  
($51.7 million in F06 compared to $14.8 million in F05 which represented 4 months of sales).  
 
Offsetting increases in cochlear implant and Baha revenues was a 23% reduction in gains from 
foreign exchange contracts (used to hedge our regional net cash flow) from $26.8 million last year 
to $20.7 million in F06.  The overall adverse impact from foreign exchange movements for the 
year was $6.8 million – this includes the reduction in gains from foreign exchange contracts and 
the translation effect of changes in exchange rates between the years. 
 
This is the first year of reporting the financial statements under AIFRS rather than AGAAP and 
there are significant differences between the two accounting standards.   
 
As discussed last year, given the change to AIFRS, one of our key management metrics is core 
earnings defined as NPAT with all research and development expensed and excluding both 
acquired intangibles amortisation and share based compensation charges.   
 
Core earnings were $86.4 million for F06.  Core earnings is a better reflection of the after tax cash 
earnings of the business, a fundamental driver of creating shareholder value.  Total Shareholder 
Returns for F06 were 42%. 
 
Net Profit after Tax of $80.0 million was up 34% over F05 restated to AIFRS.  The $80.0 million 
profit includes a $4.0 million gain from a waiver of patent royalties from the Commonwealth 
Government (reported previously).  The minority interest loss of $1.8 million relates to research 
and development expenditures arising from the joint venture with Phonak. 
 
The EBIT / Sales ratio of 24.7% improved on last year’s 23.7%.   
 
Net cash provided by operating activities before changes in assets and liabilities was $115.5 
million (F05 $83.0 million).  Receivables increased by $29.5 million for the year reflecting both 
higher sales and increased debtor days to 74 days. The latter influenced by the change to direct 
distribution in many of our European markets.  Inventory increased by $27.3 million to $76.8 
million. Inventory returned to policy and additional Freedom processors were built ahead of the 
planned backwards compatible release in F07. 
 
 
Regional Performance 
 
All regions contributed to growth with the standout regions being Americas (sales revenue up 50% 
in constant currency (CC), that is, restating F05 sales at F06 FX rates), followed by Europe – up 
35% in CC.  Asia-Pacific was up 7% in CC. 
 
While the Asia-Pacific growth is below our long-term target, there were important developments in 
our largest market in Asia-Pacific, namely China.  An order for ~15,000 cochlear implants was 
received for delivery over six years.  The order was a donation by a Taiwanese philanthropist to 
the people of China.  There was a slow down in sales in China in anticipation of people accessing 
these donated units.  The first units were shipped in July 2006.    
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Americas Region 

o Revenue of $198.2 million, growth of 50% in constant currency  
o Successful Nucleus Freedom roll-out  
o Successful integration of USA activities of Entific Medical Systems, including consolidating 

all activities in Denver, (eg closing Entific’s Columbus facility), and combining the field 
forces 

o Doubling the field representation in USA and increasing customer support headcount 
o Significant upgrade of organisational capability, for example Oracle switch on in July 05 

 
European Region 

o Revenue of $173.7 million, growth of 35% in constant currency 
o Successful launch of Nucleus Freedom in major European markets  
o Our direct market strategy implemented in F05 and continued in F06 is now producing 

results.  Margins in these markets have improved, with the added bonus of being closer to 
our customers. In the last two years we have increased our direct representation in the 
Netherlands, Belgium, France and Italy and Sweden.   Direct sales in Europe were 35% of 
total sales in F04, and this increased to 52% in F05 and 71% in F06. 

o Organisational capability was further strengthened to underpin the future growth with the 
expansion of our sales and marketing forces.  In addition, supply chain capabilities were 
upgraded with the move of our European supply warehouse to new headquarters in 
Weybridge, UK. 

 
Asia Pacific 

o Revenue of $59.7 million was up 7% in constant currency 
o China sales were lower than the previous year, however the order ~ 15,000 cochlear 

implants for delivery over 6 years has the potential to significantly transform the industry 
globally.  A slow down in sales was recorded in China in the second half, ahead of the first 
delivery of this order, which was shipped in July 2006 

o India and Australia grew above their targets, while Japan gained Regulatory approval for 
the Contour electrode as part of the Nucleus 3 Cochlear Implant System and grew stronger 
than previous years  

 
Bone Anchored Solutions Division:  
In March 2005, Cochlear acquired the Swedish company Entific Medical Systems for $176.3 
million (enterprise value), and so F06 was the first full year of owning this business.   
 
Existing product lines consist of Baha and Vistafix products and services. The Baha is a bone 
anchored hearing implant for either conductive hearing loss or for single sided deafness.  Vistafix 
is for anchoring certain prostheses.   Baha products and services are complementary to cochlear 
implants – providing different solutions for different types of hearing loss.   
 
Cochlear has created a new division (Bone Anchored Solutions) and has successfully integrated 
most of the customer support activities around the world – providing further scale in sales, 
marketing and clinical support for Cochlear’s implantable hearing devices.   
 
Bone Anchored Division sales in F06 were $51.7 million, 30% over F05 sales (that is, assuming 
the business had been owned for all of F05).  Research and development has been substantially 
increased for the Baha products.  The division is producing revenues and returns ahead of our 
internal projections at the time of acquisition. 
 
 



 
COCHLEAR LIMITED - COMMENTARY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006   

  Page 3 

 
 
Operational Update  
 

Research and Development (R&D): Our Lifeblood 
 
Cochlear remains committed to advancing the field of implantable devices for the hearing 
impaired.  In F06 R&D costs spent were $56.7 million (12.5% of revenues) on existing and new 
product areas.  AIFRS adjustments (capitalisation and amortisation of development costs) 
increased this to $58.9 million for F06. 
 
Two important areas for research and development include cochlear implants that combine 
electrical and acoustic stimulation for people with low frequency residual hearing and 
developments on DACS (direct acoustic cochlear stimulator) – a product that is being developed 
jointly with Phonak.  The focus of the joint venture over the last year has been developing the 
commercial version of DACS (a prototype of which was successfully implanted in four patients last 
year). 
 
Technologic innovation remains a key driver for Cochlear, as evidenced by the success of Nucleus 
Freedom. 
 
 
Nucleus Freedom Cochlear Implant System: Setting New Performance Benchmarks 
From April 2005, we have been engaged in launching the next generation cochlear implant – 
Nucleus Freedom.   
 
There are a number of very important characteristics, which are supported by robust 
clinical data, of our new system:  
 

o Recipients are demonstrating significantly better hearing performance levels and achieving 
these faster than any previous cochlear implant system.   

o Nucleus Freedom has a powerful chip in the external speech processor enabling advanced 
pre-processing schemes.  Cochlear’s unique SmartSound pre-processing improves hearing 
performance in difficult listening environments – such as speech in a noisy restaurant.   

o Reliability is a key characteristic of the Nucleus Freedom system – being the most reliable 
cochlear implant ever produced. 

o Nucleus Freedom supports a diverse range of accessories such as; FM systems, MP3 
player connections and lapel microphones, providing recipients with numerous connectivity 
options. 

o The Nucleus Freedom incorporates an advanced technology platform, providing 
opportunity for current and future Freedom recipients to benefit from future research 
outcomes. 

o Part of our life-long commitment to recipients is reflected in the development of the 
Freedom processor for N24.  Upgrades remain an integral component of our business 
philosophy and strategy. 
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Manufacturing and Global Supply Chain Upgrade 
 
We are now more than 12 months through a 30-month program to substantially upgrade 
manufacturing capability. This involves introducing ‘Lean’ concepts, training and up-skilling people 
and introducing certain process changes.  The process changes involve R&D efforts to redesign 
certain aspects of the product for improved manufacturability.  The benefits of building scale and 
capacity are important for our future growth. 
 
We are also redesigning the global supply chain to underpin the continued growth of the company.   
This involves everything from establishing new warehouses in our three regions to sourcing 
additional people and new processes that can support a growing company.   
 
We have made significant progress in building Cochlear’s internal capability to match the growth 
potential of the business. 
 
 



�

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue  3(a) 452,260 348,966 285,653 235,194

cost of sales 3(b) (130,962) (99,699) (110,771) (91,886)

Gross profit 321,298 249,267 174,882 143,308

other income 3(c) 884 618 379 5,946

distribution, marketing and field technical expenses (124,808) (100,968) (25,706) (15,211)

administration expenses (29,951) (25,262) (23,314) (20,203)

Research and development expenses 3(b) (58,926) (41,465) (42,798) (33,719)

Operating profit before financing income 108,497 82,190 83,443 80,121

Financial income 4 6,729 3,045 10,454 2,658

Financial expenses 4 (6,391) (2,928) (16) (1,244)

Net financing income 338 117 10,438 1,414

Profit before tax 108,83� 82,307 93,881 81,�3�

income tax expense 6 (30,610) (23,833) (26,522) (20,347)

Net profit (including minority interest) 78,22� �8,474 67,3�9 61,188

attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 80,032 �9,642 67,3�9 61,188

minority interest (1,807) (1,168) - -

Net profit (including minority interest) 78,22� �8,474 67,3�9 61,188

Basic earnings per share (cents)

ordinary shares 9 146.8 110.1

Diluted earnings per share (cents)

ordinary shares 9 145.2 109.7

the income statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 9 to 59. 

income statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006



6

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign exchange translation differences  2,636 (2,708) (391) 385

movement in general reserve 2 (10) - -

defined benefit plan revaluation - (98) - (98)

cash flow hedges:

effective portion of changes in fair value (1,021) - (1,021) -

losses taken to the income statement (14,485) - (14,485)

Net income recognised directly in equity (12,868) (2,816) (1�,897) 287

Net profit (including minority interest) 78,22� �8,474 67,3�9 61,188

Total recognised income and expense for the period 6�,3�7 ��,6�8 �1,462 61,47�

attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 67,8�7 �7,428 �1,462 61,47�

minority interest (2,500) (1,770) - -

Total recognised income and expense for the period 6�,3�7 ��,6�8 �1,462 61,47�

Effect of change in accounting policy – financial instruments 
(with 200� not restated) 

hedging reserve 19,102 - 19,102 -

attributable to: 

equity holders of the parent 19,102 - 19,102 -

minority interest - - - -

19,102 - 19,102 -

other movements in equity arising from transactions with equity participants as equity participants are set out in note 24.the statements of 
recognised income and expense are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 9 to 59.

statements of recognised income and expense cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Current assets

cash and cash equivalents 25(a) 87,073 106,077 27,458 72,191

Receivables   10 109,388 91,373 109,770 59,238

inventories    11 76,822 49,518 47,209 25,726

other    12 5,920 4,186 2,349 2,117

Total current assets    279,203 2�1,1�4 186,786 1�9,272

Non-current assets

Receivables   10 - 9,938 - 9,938

other financial assets    13 383 187 33,994 18,521

plant and equipment    14 30,833 24,624 21,381 19,884

intangible assets    15 205,238 194,329 4,126 8,263

deferred tax assets    16 30,267 22,464 5,072 7,749

Total non-current assets   266,721 2�1,�42 64,�73 64,3��

Total assets    �4�,924 �02,696 2�1,3�9 223,627

Current liabilities

payables   17 57,345 46,539 28,337 18,914

interest bearing liabilities  19 70,547 64,107 - 1,273

current tax liabilities    24,981 12,455 14,407 8,380

provisions    21 27,058 24,541 15,642 16,829

other 18 23,525 45,396 857 18,322

Total current liabilities   203,4�6 193,038 �9,243 63,718

Non-current liabilities

interest bearing liabilities   19 125,493 138,951 - -

provisions    21 6,433 6,108 5,655 4,703

other 18 764 9,938 764 9,938

Total non-current liabilities   132,690 1�4,997 6,419 14,641

Total liabilities    336,146 348,03� 6�,662 78,3�9

Net assets    209,778 1�4,661 18�,697 14�,268

Equity

issued capital    23 66,663 49,375 66,663 49,375

Reserves     24 3,010 (3,917) 3,077 (128)

Retained earnings    24 137,864 104,462 115,957 96,021

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 207,�37 149,920 18�,697 14�,268

minority interest    24 2,241 4,741 - -

Total equity    24 209,778 1�4,661 18�,697 14�,268

the balance sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 9 to 59.

Balance sheets cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities

cash receipts in the course of operations 432,838 338,705 234,073 223,459

cash payments in the course of operations (352,164) (216,650) (209,038) (142,865)

dividends received - - - 5,131

Grant and other income received 884 618 379 815

interest received 3,816 2,634 5,896 2,592

interest paid (6,391) (2,928) (16) (282)

income taxes paid (27,428) (19,370) (19,358) (12,811)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2�(b) �1,��� 103,009 11,936 76,039

Cash flows from investing activities

payment for plant and equipment (14,329) (4,992) (6,968) (3,569)

payment for enterprise resource planning system (706) (3,043) - (4)

proceeds from sale of non-current assets 572 27 197 1,278

investment in controlled entities - - (15,380) (12,045)

payment for acquisition of cochlear implant  
distribution businesses - (3,405) - -

payment for controlled entities (net of cash acquired) - (192,208) - -

development expenditure (179) (4,375) (179) (4,375)

Net cash used in investing activites (14,642) (207,996) (22,330) (18,71�)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (29,787) (2,100) (1,273) (2,100)

proceeds from borrowings 3,678 178,812 - -

proceeds from issue of shares 17,288 - 17,288 -

dividends paid by the parent (49,096) (42,832) (49,096) (42,832)

Net cash (used in) / provided by financing activities (�7,917) 133,880 (33,081) (44,932)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (21,004) 28,893 (43,47�) 12,392

cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 103,627 74,091 70,918 58,526

effects of exchange fluctuation on the balances  
of cash held in foreign currencies 2,703 643 15 -

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2�(a) 8�,326 103,627 27,4�8 70,918

the statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 9 to 59.

statements of cash flows  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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1. Statement of significant accounting policies
this Financial Report was authorised for issue by the directors on 15 august 2006. 

the significant policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this Financial Report are:

(a) Statement of compliance

the Financial Report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with australian accounting standards 
adopted by the australian accounting standards Board (aasB) and the corporations act 2001.

international Financial Reporting standards (iFRs) form the basis of australian accounting standards adopted by the aasB, and for the 
purpose of this report are called australian equivalents to iFRs (aiFRs), to distinguish from previous australian Generally accepted accounting 
principles (previous Gaap).  the financial report of the consolidated entity also complies with iFRs and interpretations adopted by the 
international accounting standards Board.

this is the consolidated entity’s first aiFRs financial report prepared in accordance with australian accounting standards, being  
aiFRs, and aasB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (aasB 1) has been applied.  

an explanation of how the transition to aiFRs has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the 
consolidated entity is provided in note 31. this note includes reconciliations of equity and profit for comparative periods reported under 
previous Gaap to those reported for those periods under aiFRs.

(b) Basis of preparation

the Financial Report is presented in australian dollars, rounded off to the nearest one thousand, unless otherwise stated.

the Financial Report is prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value: 
derivative financial instruments, and financial instruments classified as available for sale.

the entity has elected to early adopt the following revised accounting standards:

• aasB 119 Employee Benefits (december 2004);

•  aasB 2004-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (december 2004) amending aasB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (July 2004), aasB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and aasB 124 Related Party Disclosures; 

•  aasB 2005-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (June 2005) amending aasB 119 Employee Benefits (either July or  
december 2004);

•  aasB 2005-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (June 2005) amending aasB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, aasB 132 
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, aasB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (July 2004), 
aasB 1023 General Insurance Contracts and aasB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts;

•  aasB 2005-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (June 2005) amending aasB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (July 2004) and aasB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement;

• aasB 2005-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (June 2005) amending aasB 3 Business Combinations;

• aasB 2005-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (June 2005) amending aasB 134 Interim Financial Reporting; 

•  aasB 2005-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (June 2005) amending aasB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (July 2004); and

•  aasB 2006-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (January 2006) amending aasB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

the following accounting standards and amendments were available for early adoption but have not been applied by the consolidated entity in 
these financial statements:

•  aasB 2005-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (may 2005) amending aasB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement;

• aasB 2005-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (september 2005) amending aasB 4 Insurance Contracts; 

•  aasB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (september 2005) amending aasB 132 Financial instruments: Disclosures and Presentation, 
aasB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, aasB 114 Segment Reporting, aasB 117 Leases,  aasB 133 Earnings per Share, aasB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, aasB 1 First-time adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards, aasB 4 Insurance Contracts, aasB 
1023 General Insurance Contracts and aasB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts; and

• aasB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (august 2005).

the impact of these standards is yet to be determined but will be applied by the consolidated entity on the relevant application date.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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the preparation of a financial report in conformity with the australian accounting standards requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. these 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources.  actual results may differ from these estimates.

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of australian accounting standards that have significant effect on the Financial Report and 
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in this note 1.

(c) Basis of consolidation

Controlled entities
controlled entities are entities controlled by the company. control exits when the company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. in assessing control, potential voting rights that presently 
are exercisable or convertible are taken into account.  the financial statements of controlled entities are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

investments in controlled entities are carried at their cost of acquisition in the company’s financial statements.

Associates
associates are those entities in which the consolidated entity has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. 
the consolidated financial statements include the consolidated entity’s share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates on an equity 
accounted basis, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the consolidated 
entity’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the consolidated entity’s carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the consolidated entity has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of an associate.

in the company’s financial statements, investments in associates are carried at the cost of acquisition, less any impairment losses.  

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the consolidated entity’s interest in the entity with 
adjustments made to the investment in associates and share of associates net profit accounts. 

(d) Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and services tax (Gst).

Sales revenue
sales revenue comprises revenue earned (net of returns, discounts and allowances) from the provision of products or services. Revenue from 
the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
buyer. no revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, the costs incurred or to 
be incurred cannot be measured reliably, there is a risk of return of goods or there is continuing management involvement with the goods. 
Revenue from the sale of services is recognised when the service has been provided to the customer and where there are no continuing 
unfulfilled service obligations.

the accounting policy for foreign exchange gains/losses arising from hedges of forecast sales transactions is set out in accounting policy (h).  

Other income
other revenue, including government grants, is recognised on a systematic basis as income over the periods necessary to match it with the 
related costs for which it is intended to compensate or if the costs have already been incurred in the period in which it becomes receivable 
which is when the entitlement is confirmed.

Sales of non-current assets
the gain or loss on disposal of non-current assets is recognised as other operating income at the date control of the asset passes to the buyer, 
usually when an unconditional contract of sale is signed.

the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net 
proceeds on disposal (including incidental costs).

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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(e) Goods and services tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Gst, except where the amount of Gst incurred is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority. in these circumstances, the Gst is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of Gst included.  the net amount of Gst recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant 
taxation authority is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. the Gst components of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

(f) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at reporting date are translated to australian dollars at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign 
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. non-monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at 
the dates the fair values were determined.

Financial statements of foreign operations
the assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, generally are translated to 
australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.  the revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to australian 
dollars at rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of transactions.  

Net investment in foreign operations
exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of related hedges are taken to the foreign 
currency translation reserve.  they are released into the income statement upon disposal.

the aasB 1 election to reset the existing foreign currency translation reserve balance to nil on conversion has not been adopted.

(g) Derivative financial instruments
the consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange arising from operational, financing 
and investment activities. in accordance with its treasury policy, the consolidated entity does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. however, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.

derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are stated 
at fair value. the gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the income statement. however, where derivatives 
qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see accounting  
policy (h)).

(h) Hedges

Cash flow hedges

Current period policy
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a highly 
probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. When 
the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the associated cumulative gain 
or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. if a hedge of a 
forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, then the associated gains and losses that 
were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into the income statement in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired  
or liability assumed affects the income statement.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding statement, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects the income statement.  
the ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the company revokes designation of the hedge relationship but the 
hedged forecast transaction still is expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance 
with the above policy when the transaction occurs. if the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, then the cumulative 
unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the income statement.
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Comparative period policy 
For the year ended 30 June 2005, the following accounting treatment was applied: transactions were designated as a hedge of the anticipated 
specific purchase or sale of goods or services, purchase of qualifying assets, or an anticipated interest transaction, only when they were 
expected to reduce exposure to the risks being hedged and were designated prospectively so that it was clear when an anticipated transaction 
had or had not occurred and it was probable the anticipated transaction would occur as designated. Gains or losses on the hedge arising up 
to the date of the anticipated transaction, together with any other costs or gains arising at the time of entering into the hedge, were deferred 
and included in the measurement of the anticipated transaction when the transaction had occurred as designated.  any gains or losses on the 
hedged transaction after that date were included in the income statement.

the net amounts receivable or payable under forward foreign exchange contracts and the associated deferred gains or losses were recorded 
on the balance sheet from the date of inception of the hedge transaction. When recognised, the net receivables or payables were revalued 
using the foreign currency exchange rate current at the reporting date.

When the anticipated transaction was no longer expected to occur as designated, the deferred gain or loss relating to the hedged transaction 
was recognised immediately in the income statement.

Where a hedge transaction was terminated early and the anticipated transaction was still expected to occur as designated, deferred gains and 
losses that arose on the foreign currency hedge prior to its termination continued to be deferred and were included in the measurement of 
the purchase or sale when it occurred. Where a hedge transaction was terminated early because the anticipated transaction was no longer 
expected to occur as designated, deferred gains and losses that arose on the foreign currency hedge prior to its termination were included in 
the income statement for the financial period.

Gains or losses that arose prior to and upon the maturity of transactions entered into under hedge rollover strategies were deferred and 
included in the measurement of the hedged anticipated transaction if the transaction was still expected to occur as designated.  if the 
anticipated transaction was no longer expected to occur as designated, gains or losses were recognised immediately in the income statement.

Hedge of monetary assets and liabilities
When a derivative financial instrument is used to hedge economically the foreign exchange exposure of a recognised monetary asset or liability, 
hedge accounting is not applied and any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income statement.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations
the portion of the gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation that is determined to be an effective 
hedge is recognised directly in equity.  the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the consolidated entity’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

(j) Provisions
a provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Warranties
provisions for warranty claims are made for claims in relation to sales made prior to the reporting date, based on historical claim rates and 
respective product populations. the provision is determined on a discounted cash flow basis. Warranty periods on hardware products extend 
for three to 10 years. the consolidated entity is expected to incur the majority of the liability over the next three to 10 years.

Dividends
a provision for dividends payable is recognised in the financial period in which the dividends are declared.

Restructuring, employee termination benefits and surplus lease space
provisions for restructuring or termination benefits are only recognised when a detailed plan has been approved and the restructuring or 
termination has either commenced or been publicly announced, or firm contracts related to the restructuring or termination benefits have 
been entered into. costs related to ongoing activities are not provided for. the liabilities for termination benefits that will be paid as a result of 
these restructurings have been included in the provision for employee benefits.

provision is made for non-cancellable operating lease rentals payable on surplus leased premises when it is determined that no substantive 
future benefit will be obtained from their occupancy and sub-lease rentals are less than the lease rentals paid. the estimate is calculated based 
on discounted net future cash flows, using the interest rate implicit in the lease or an estimate thereof.

Self-insurance
the company self-insures to manage certain risks associated with operating in its line of business. outstanding claims are recognised when an 
incident occurs that may give rise to a claim and are measured at the cost that the entity expects to incur in settling the claims, discounted 
using a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006



13

Make good lease costs
the consolidated entity has a number of operating leases over its offices that require the asset to be returned to the lessor in its original 
condition. the operating lease payments do not include an element for the repairs/overhauls.

a provision for make good lease costs is recognised at the time it is determined that it is probable that such costs will be incurred in a future 
period, measured at the expected cost of returning the asset to the lessor in its original condition. the consolidated entity is expected to incur 
the liability within the next 12 years. an offsetting asset of the same value is also recognised and is classified in plant and equipment. this asset 
is amortised to the income statement over the life of the lease.

(k) Intangible assets

Goodwill
all business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the 
acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units and is no longer amortised 
but is tested annually for impairment (see accounting policy (l)).

negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the income statement.

Enterprise resource planning system
the external expenditure incurred on hardware and software and the external costs necessary for the implementation of the system are 
recognised as an intangible asset, to the extent that the company controls future economic benefits as a result of the costs incurred, and is 
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.  all internal development, licence and support costs attributable to feasibility, alternative approach 
assessment and implementation are expensed as incurred. 

Research and development expenditure
expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is 
recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 
improved products and processes, is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the consolidated entity 
has sufficient resources to complete development.

the expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. other development 
expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation (see below) and impairment losses (see accounting policy (l)).

Other intangible assets
other intangible assets, principally comprising of technology acquired, customer relationships and intellectual property, are acquired individually 
or through business combinations and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (see below) and impairment losses (see accounting 
policy (l)).

expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Subsequent expenditure
subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. all other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation
amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets unless such 
lives are indefinite. Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are systematically tested for impairment annually. other intangible 
assets are amortised from the date that they are available for use. the estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are  
as follows:

acquired technology   4 years 

enterprise resource planning system  2.5 – 4 years

customer relationships   4 years

intellectual property    3 years

capitalised development expenditure  1 – 3 years.
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(l) Impairment
the carrying amounts of the consolidated entity’s assets, other than inventories (see accounting policy (n)), employee benefit assets 
(see accounting policy (o)), and deferred tax assets (see accounting policy (q)), are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. if any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated (see below).

For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated 
at each balance sheet date.

an impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.  
impairment losses are recognised in the income statement unless the asset has previously been revalued, in which case the impairment 
loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through the income statement.

impairment losses recognised in respect of cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the cash generating unit or a group of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or a group of units on a 
pro rata basis.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets were tested for impairment at 1 July 2004, the date of transition to aiFRs, even though no 
indication of impairment existed.

Calculation of recoverable amount

Receivables
the recoverable amount of the consolidated entity’s investments in held-to-maturity receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective evidence is available that a loss event has occurred. significant receivables are 
individually assessed for impairment. impairment testing of significant receivables that are not assessed as impaired individually is performed 
by placing them into portfolios of significant receivables with similar risk profiles and undertaking a collective assessment of impairment. non-
significant receivables are not individually assessed. instead, impairment testing is performed by placing non-significant receivables in portfolios of 
similar risk profiles, based on objective evidence from historical experience adjusted for any effects of conditions existing at each balance date.

the allowance for impairment is calculated with reference to the profile of debtors in the consolidated entity’s sales and marketing regions.   

Other assets
the recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell, and value in use. in assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment
an impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

an impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

in respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(m) Plant and equipment

Owned assets
items of plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses 
(see accounting policy (l)). an asset’s cost is determined as consideration provided plus incidental costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition.

the cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of material and direct labour, an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads, 
and capitalised interest.

subsequent costs in relation to replacing a part of plant and equipment are recognised in the carrying amount if it is possible that future 
economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  all other 
costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred.
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Leased assets

Operating leases
payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except where an alternative basis is 
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property. minimum lease payments include fixed rate step-ups.

Depreciation 
items of plant and equipment, including leasehold assets, are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, taking 
into account estimated residual values. assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from 
the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.

depreciation rates and methods and residual values are reviewed annually for appropriateness. When changes are made, adjustments are 
reflected prospectively in current and future financial periods only.

the estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows:

leasehold improvements 5 – 9 years

plant and equipment 3 – 8 years.

(n) Inventories

inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less estimated costs of completion and selling, marketing and distribution expenses.

cost is based on the first-in-first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing 
condition and location. in the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of both variable and 
fixed overhead costs. Fixed overhead costs are allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity.

(o) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans
obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Defined benefit plans
the consolidated entity has early adopted the revised aasB 119 Employee Benefits (december 2004) (aasB 119).

a liability or asset in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans is recognised in the balance sheet, and is measured as the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation as at the reporting date plus unrecognised actuarial gains or losses less the fair value of the fund’s assets at that 
date and any unrecognised past service cost.  the present value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected future payments which 
arise from membership of the fund to the reporting date, calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

When the calculation results in plan assets exceeding liabilities to the consolidated entity, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of 
any unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan.

past service cost is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for employee services in prior periods, resulting in the 
current period from the introduction of, or changes to, post-employment benefits or other long-term employee benefits. past service costs may 
either be positive (where benefits are introduced or improved) or negative (where existing benefits are reduced).

expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currency that match the estimated future cash flows.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognised as an 
expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. to the extent that the 
benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in the income statement.

the full amount of actuarial gains and losses that arise subsequent to transition date will be recognised directly in retained earnings.

Wages, salaries and annual leave
liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave expected to settle within 12 months of the year end represent present 
obligations resulting from employees’ services provided up to reporting date, calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage 
and salary rates that the consolidated entity expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers’ compensation 
insurance and payroll tax.
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Long service leave
the provision for employee benefits to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by 
the employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to reporting date.

the provision is calculated using expected future increases in remuneration rates, including related on-costs and expected settlement dates 
based on turnover history, and is discounted using the rates attaching to national government securities at reporting date, which most closely 
match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities. the unwinding of the discount is treated as a long service leave expense.

Share based payment transactions
the company has granted options and performance shares to certain employees under an executive share option plan (esop) and the 
cochlear executive long term incentive plan (celtip).

the fair value of options and shares granted is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  the fair 
value is measured at the date the options or shares are granted taking into account market and non-market based criteria and expensed 
over the vesting period after which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options and shares.  the fair value of the options 
granted is measured using the Black-scholes method, taking into account the terms and conditions attached to the options. the fair value of 
the performance shares granted is measured using the weighted average share price of ordinary shares in the company, taking into account 
the terms and conditions attached to the shares. the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options and 
shares that vest except where forfeiture is due to market related conditions.

the exemption under aasB 1 has been applied, resulting in no adjustment being made for options granted prior to 7 november 2002 which 
had vested before 1 July 2004. options granted after 7 november 2002 and remaining unvested at 1 January 2004 have been recognised 
through the opening balance sheet.

Treasury shares
the company operates the cochlear executive long term incentive plan (performance shares) trust (trust).  the main purpose of the trust 
is to hold unvested performance shares as part of the celtip. under aiFRs, the trust qualifies as an equity compensation plan special purpose 
entity and its results are included in those for the consolidated entity.

at transition date, the trust held shares of the company.  the shares are accounted for as treasury stock and treated as a reduction in the 
share capital of the company and the consolidated entity.  

(p) Receivables

trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy (l)).

(q) Taxation

income tax on the income statement for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. income tax is recognised in the income 
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at reporting date, 
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. the following temporary differences are not 
provided for : the initial recognition of goodwill and other assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.  the amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at reporting date.

a deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 
be utilised. deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(r) Payables

trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost.

(s) Interest bearing liabilities

effective 1 July 2005, interest bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transactions costs. subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest bearing liabilities are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in 
the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest rate basis.

until 30 June 2005, bank loans were carried in the balance sheet at their principal amount. interest expense was accrued at the contracted 
rate and included in payables.
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(t) Net financing costs

Financial costs include interest, finance charges in respect of finance leases, and foreign exchange differences net of the effect of hedges on 
borrowings. debt establishment costs are capitalised and recognised as a reduction in interest bearing liabilities. they are calculated based on 
the effective interest rate method and are amortised over the period of the loan.

interest income is recognised as it accrues. dividend income from subsidiaries is recognised by the parent when the dividends are declared by 
the subsidiary.

(u) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (eps) is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the financial period, after 
excluding any costs of servicing equity (other than ordinary shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the company, 
adjusted for any bonus issue.

diluted eps is calculated by dividing the basic eps earnings, adjusted by the after-tax effect of financing costs associated with the dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of conversion to ordinary shares associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares of the company adjusted for any bonus issue.

(v) Segment reporting

a segment is a distinguishable component of the consolidated entity that is engaged either in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment (geographical segment), or in providing products or services (business segment), which is subject to risks and rewards 
that are different from those of other segments.

(w) Accounting estimates and judgements

management discussed with the audit committee the development, selection and disclosure of the consolidated entity’s critical accounting 
policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

US Department of Justice Inquiry
the company was informed by the us department of Justice that cochlear america’s, a wholly owned subsidiary, is subject to an inquiry. For 
further details, refer to note 22.

2. Changes in accounting policies

in the current financial year, the company adopted aasB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation (aasB 132) and aasB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (aasB 139). this change in accounting policy has been adopted in accordance with the 
transition rules contained in aasB 1, which does not require the restatement of comparative information for financial instruments within the 
scope of aasB 132 and aasB 139.

the adoption of aasB 139 has resulted in the company recognising all derivative financial instruments as assets or liabilities at fair value. this 
change has been accounted for by adjusting the opening balance of the hedging reserve at 1 July 2005.

the impact on the balance sheet in the comparative period is set out below as an adjustment to the opening balance sheet at 1 July 2005. the 
impact on the income statement of the comparative period is nil.

Reconciliation of opening balances affected by aasB 132 and aasB 139 at 1 July 2005:

Amounts $000 Consolidated Company

Note Previous 
GAAP

Effect of 
transition to 

AIFRS

AIFRS Previous 
GAAP

Effect of 
transition to 

AIFRS

AIFRS

deferred tax liabilities - 8,186 8,186 - 8,186 8,186

deferred gain on hedges (a) 27,288 (27,288) - 27,288 (27,288) -

hedging reserve (a) - 19,102 19,102 - 19,102 19,102

(a)  under previous Gaap, the consolidated entity did not recognise any derivatives at fair value on the balance sheet. instead, it had translated the forward exchange contracts in accordance with previous Gaap 
giving rise to an accumulative deferred gain of $27,288,000. in accordance with aiFRs, all derivatives would be recognised at fair value. at 1 July 2005, the fair value of  
the forward exchange contracts was $27,288,000. the effect in the consolidated entity and the company is to increase the hedging reserve by $27,288,000 less deferred tax of $8,186,000, and to decrease 
the deferred gain on hedges previously recorded as a liability by $27,288,000 at 1 July 2005.
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

3. Revenue and expenses

(a) Revenue

sale of goods revenue before hedging 428,516 320,444 264,802 208,285

Foreign exchange gains on hedged sales 20,693 26,791 20,693 26,791

Revenue from the sale of goods 449,209 347,23� 28�,49� 23�,076

Rendering of services revenue 3,051 1,731 158 118

Total revenue 4�2,260 348,966 28�,6�3 23�,194

(b) Expenses

cost of sales:

carrying amount of inventory recognised as an expense 128,028 96,409 110,665 89,883

other 2,681 1,056 106 78

Write-down in value of inventories 253 2,234 - 1,925

Total cost of sales 130,962 99,699 110,771 91,886

Research and development expenses:

Research and development expenditure 56,703 44,579 40,575 36,833

capitalised development expenditure – amortisation expense 2,402 1,261 2,402 1,261

development expenditure capitalised (179) (4,375) (179) (4,375)

Total research and development expenses �8,926 41,46� 42,798 33,719

(c) Other income

dividends from controlled entities - - 5,131

Grant received or due and receivable 233 221 233 221

other income 651 397 146 594

Total other income 884 618 379 �,946

(d) Other expenses

costs resulting from integration of acquired entity 1,524 2,778 - -

Total other expenses 1,�24 2,778 - -

(e) Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting) 
the following items:

impairment loss/(gain) on trade receivables 127 (632) - (19)

increase in provisions 10,550 6,651 7,335 2,025

employee benefits expense 117,312 95,098 58,853 53,271

operating lease rental expense 6,647 6,597 2,687 2,838

loss/(gain) on disposal of plant and equipment 20 7 (177) -
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

4. Net financing costs

interest income 3,683 2,700 5,762 2,658

net foreign exchange gain 3,046 345 4,692 -

Financial income 6,729 3,04� 10,4�4 2,6�8

interest expense 6,391 2,928 16 282

net foreign exchange loss - - - 962

Financial expenses 6,391 2,928 16 1,244

Net financing income 338 117 10,438 1,414

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $ $ $ $

�. Auditors’ remuneration

Audit services

auditors of the company:

KpmG australia:

- audit and review of financial reports 350,000 274,600 335,500 274,600

- other regulatory audit services 6,400 5,500 6,400 5,500

overseas KpmG firms:

- audit and review of financial reports 443,796 359,772 25,876 24,644

- other regulatory audit services - 10,891 - -

other auditor - 37,994 - -

800,196 688,7�7 367,776 304,744

Other services

auditors of the company:

KpmG australia:

- international taxation services 423,792 257,529 387,720 257,529

- other assurance services 17,250 47,495 17,250 47,495

- other taxation services 185,698 235,789 150,962 235,786

overseas KpmG firms:

- taxation services 218,217 112,050 16,350 40,292

- international taxation services 118,717 85,552 7,580 47,642

- other assurance services 9,700 - - -

973,374 738,41� �79,862 628,744
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

6. Income tax expense

Recognised in the income statement

Current tax expense

current year     21,549 22,958 28,064 18,968

adjustments for prior years    (283) (638) (406) (286)

21,266 22,320 27,6�8 18,682

Deferred tax expense

origination and reversal of temporary differences  5,777 (887) (1,136) 1,665

Benefits of tax losses recognised    3,567 2,400 - -

9,344 1,�13 (1,136) 1,66�

Total income tax expense in income statement 30,610 23,833 26,�22 20,347

Numerical reconciliation between income tax expense  
and profit before tax

profit before tax 108,835 82,307 93,881 81,535

income tax expense using the domestic corporate rate of 30% (2005: 30%) 32,651 24,692 28,164 24,461

increase in income tax expense due to: 

non-deductible expenses 764 1,647 617 153

effect of tax rate in foreign jurisdictions   - 440 151 -

decrease in income tax expense due to:

Research and development allowance   (2,004) (2,308) (2,004) (2,308)

non-assessable dividend from subsidiary   - - - (1,539)

effect of tax rate in foreign jurisdiction (518) - - (134)

30,893 24,471 26,928 20,633

overprovided in prior years  (283) (638) (406) (286)

Income tax expense on profit before tax  30,610 23,833 26,�22 20,347

Deferred tax recognised directly in equity

Relating to derivative financial instruments (6,645) - (6,645) -
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Cents per 
share

Total amount 
$000

Franked/
unfranked

Date of 
payment

7. Dividends

dividends recognised in the current financial year by the company are:

2006

interim 2006 ordinary 45.0 24,666 Franked 14 mar 2006

Final 2005 ordinary 45.0 24,430 Franked 22 sep 2005

Total amount 49,096

200�

interim 2005 ordinary 35.0 19,001 Franked 15 mar 2005

Final 2004 ordinary 44.0 23,831 Franked 23 sep 2004

Total amount 42,832

Franked dividends declared or paid during the financial year were franked at the 
tax rate of 30%.

Subsequent events 

since the end of the financial year, the directors declared the following dividends:

Final 2006 ordinary 55.0 30,147 Franked 21 sep 2006

Total amount 30,147

the financial effect of the 2006 final dividend has not been brought to account in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2006 and will be recognised in the subsequent financial period.

Company

2006 200�

$000 $000

Dividend franking account

30% franking credits available to shareholders of cochlear limited for subsequent financial periods 13,352 9,069

the above amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year end adjusted for :

• franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability;

• franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year end; and

• franking credits that the company may be prevented from distributing in subsequent financial years.

the ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. the impact on the 
dividend franking account of dividends proposed after balance sheet date but not recorded as a liability is to reduce it by $12,920,169 (2005: 
$10,470,113).

no additional current tax liability will arise to the extent that franking credits are available in which to pay appropriately franked dividends. 
dividends in excess of the balance of the dividend franking account will either be unfranked or result in franking deficit tax liability payable by 
the company to the extent that franking credits are provided that do not exist. the company’s policy is not to pay dividends with franking 
credits that will result in a franking deficit tax liability.
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8. Segment reporting

inter-segment pricing is on an arms length basis and is determined in accordance with transfer pricing arrangements.

segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment, as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis. unallocated items mainly comprise corporate expenses and assets associated with the manufacturing process.

in presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. segment 
assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

the consolidated entity’s business segments operate geographically as follows:

Asia Pacific Europe Americas Eliminations Consolidated

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue

Revenue outside the consolidated entity 59,657 57,991 173,722 133,021 198,188 131,163 - - 431,567 322,175

inter-segment sales revenue 229,657 175,333 - - - - (229,657) (175,333) - -

Foreign exchange gains on hedged sales 20,693 26,791

Total revenue 4�2,260 348,966

segment result 12,048 11,728 45,721 37,783 52,065 24,850 - - 109,834 74,361

unallocated (loss)/profit (1,337) 7,829

net financing (loss)/profit 338 117

profit before tax  108,835 82,307

income tax expense (30,610) (23,833)

Net profit (including minority interest) 78,22� �8,474

segment depreciation and amortisation 892 246 2,954 1,213 4,953 463 - - 8,799 1,922

unallocated depreciation and amortisation 7,276 9,749

Total depreciation and amortisation 16,07� 11,671

segment non-cash expenses other than 
depreciation and amortisation 278 294 479 769 1,775 (1,989) - - 2,532 (926)

unallocated non-cash expenses other than 
depreciation and amortisation (812) 4,070

Total non-cash expenses other than 
depreciation and amortisation 1,720 3,144

Inventory write-down 3� 369 1� 942 203 923 - - 2�3 2,234

segment assets 40,560 33,336 231,758 198,335 164,697 132,871 (57,840) (70,,039) 379,175 294,503

unallocated assets 166,749 208,193

Total assets �4�,924 �02,696

segment liabilities 9,699 11,563 66,116 64,299 85,570 65,129 (89,226) (52,915) 72,159 88,076

unallocated liabilities 263,987 259,959

Total liabilities 336,146 348,03�

segment acquisition of non-current assets 360 54 5,444 1,850 2,129 3,440 - - 7,933 5,344

unallocated acquisition of non-current assets 7,102 2,692

Total acquisition of non-current assets 1�,03� 8,036

Secondary reporting

the consolidated entity operates in a single business segment, being the implantable hearing device industry
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Consolidated

2006 200�

9. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

the calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2006 was based on net 
profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of $80,032,000 (2005: $59,642,000) and a 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 30 June 2006 of 
54,530,299 (2005: 54,152,156) calculated as follows:

net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent $80,032,000 $59,642,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:

issued ordinary shares at 1 July 54,169,325 54,096,455

effect of shares issued on 24 september 2004  - 55,701

effect of shares issued on 21 september 2005 350,376 -

effect of shares issued on 30 september 2005 10,598 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares �4,�30,299 �4,1�2,1�6

Diluted earnings per share

the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2006 was based on net profit 
attributable to equity holders of the parent of $80,032,000 (2005: $59,642,000) and a weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 30 June 2006 of 55,122,283 
(2005: 54,382,919) calculated as follows:

net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent $80,032,000 $59,642,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted):

Weighted average number of shares (basic) 54,530,299 54,152,156

effect of options and performance shares 591,984 230,763

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)   ��,122,283 �4,382,919
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

10. Receivables

Current

trade receivables net of allowance for impairment loss 96,060 65,611 10,987 8,605

other receivables 7,427 8,412 4,100 2,741

amount receivable from controlled entities 29 - - 88,782 30,542

Forward exchange contracts 5,901 17,350 5,901 17,350

Total current receivables 109,388 91,373 109,770 �9,238

Non-current

Forward exchange contracts - 9,938 - 9,938

Total non-current receivables - 9,938 - 9,938

11. Inventories

Raw materials and stores 28,975 20,526 26,900 18,973

Work in progress 7,835 6,172 6,578 5,836

Finished goods 40,012 22,820 13,731 917

Total inventories 76,822 49,�18 47,209 2�,726

12. Other current assets

Prepayments �,920 4,186 2,349 2,117

13. Other financial assets

shares in controlled entities, unlisted, at cost 26 - - 33,868 18,489

other amounts receivable 383 187 126 32

Total non-current financial assets 383 187 33,994 18,�21



2�

    

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

14. Plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements

at cost 21,973 20,550 19,572 18,960

accumulated amortisation (10,309) (7,601) (9,757) (7,163)

11,664 12,949 9,81� 11,797

Plant and equipment

at cost 50,716 38,302 33,087 27,130

accumulated depreciation (31,547) (26,627) (21,521) (19,043)

19,169 11,67� 11,�66 8,087

Total plant and equipment, at net book value 30,833 24,624 21,381 19,884

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of plant 
and equipment are set out below:

Leasehold improvements

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 12,949 15,222 11,797 14,706

additions 1,796 593 684 624

disposals (323) (27) - (743)

amortisation (2,782) (2,855) (2,670) (2,790)

effect of movements in foreign exchange 24 16 4 -

carrying amount at end of financial year 11,664 12,949 9,81� 11,797

Plant and equipment

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 11,675 10,812 8,087 8,703

additions 12,533 4,399 6,284 2,945

disposals (269) (7) (20) (536)

depreciation (5,245) (4,160) (2,938) (3,025)

acquisitions through business combinations - 1,042 - -

effect of movements in foreign exchange 475 (411) 153 -

carrying amount at end of financial year 19,169 11,67� 11,�66 8,087

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

1�. Intangible assets

Goodwill at cost 18�,3�2 168,002 - -

Acquired technology

at cost 3,702 3,334 - -

accumulated amortisation (1,234) (278) - -

2,468 3,0�6 - -

Enterprise resource planning system

at cost 13,091 12,217 9,179 9,179

accumulated amortisation (10,545) (7,178) (9,093) (7,179)

2,�46 �,039 86 2,000

Customer relationships

at cost 5,433 5,002 - -

accumulated amortisation (1,826) (417) - -

3,607 4,�8� - -

Intellectual property capitalised, at cost(i) 6,788 6,82� - -

Capitalised development expenditure

at cost 7,385 7,524 7,385 7,524

accumulated amortisation (3,345) (1,261) (3,345) (1,261)

4,040 6,263 4,040 6,263

Other intangible assets

at cost 583 590 - -

accumulated amortisation (146) (31) - -

437 ��9 - -

Total intangible assets 20�,238 194,329 4,126 8,263

(i) intellectual property is not amortised on the basis that it has not yet reached the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the consolidated entity.
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of 
intangible assets are set out below:

Goodwill

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 168,002 - - -

acquisitions through business combinations - 181,922 - -

effect of movements in foreign exchange 17,350 (13,920) - -

carrying amount at end of financial year 18�,3�2 168,002 - -

Acquired technology

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 3,056 - - -

acquisitions through business combinations - 3,334 - -

amortisation (926) (278) - -

effects of movements in foreign exchange 338 - - -

carrying amount at end of financial year 2,468 3,0�6 - -

Enterprise resource planning system

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 5,039 4,664 2,000 4,664

other acquisitions 706 3,044 - 5

amortisation (3,366) (2,669) (1,914) (2,669)

effect of movements in foreign exchange 167 - - -

carrying amount at end of financial year 2,�46 �,039 86 2,000

Customer relationships

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 4,585 - - -

acquisitions through business combinations - 5,002 - -

amortisation (1,238) (417) - -

effect of movements in foreign exchange 260 - - -

carrying amount at end of financial year 3,607 4,�8� - -

Intellectual property capitalised, at cost

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 6,825 6,825 - -

acquisitions through business combinations - - - -

amortisation - - - -

effect of movements in foreign exchange (37) - - -

carrying amount at end of financial year 6,788 6,82� - -

Capitalised development expenditure

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 6,263 3,149 6,263 3,149

development phase expenditure 179 4,375 179 4,375

amortisation (2,402) (1,261) (2,402) (1,261)

effect of movements in foreign exchange - - - -

carrying amount at end of financial year 4,040 6,263 4,040 6,263

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Other intangible assets

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 559 - - -

acquisitions through business combinations - 590 - -

amortisation (116) (31) - -

effect of movements in foreign exchange (6) - - -

carrying amount at end of financial year 437 ��9 - -

Amortisation and impairment charge

the amortisation charge is recognised in the administration expenses line except for amortisation of capitalised development expenditure 
which is recognised in the research and development expenses line in the income statement.

Impairment tests for cash generating units containing goodwill 

the following units have significant carrying amounts of goodwill:

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

americas 69,721 63,104 - -

europe 109,518 99,344 - -

asia pacific 6,113 5,554 - -

18�,3�2 168,002 - -

the recoverable amount of each cash generating unit is based on value-in-use calculations. those calculations use cash flow projections based 
on actual operating results and the three year business plan. cash flows for a further two year period are extrapolated using a 3.5% per annum 
growth rate and are appropriate because the related acquisitions are long-term businesses. this growth rate is consistent with the long-term 
average growth rate for the industry. a post-tax discount rate of 9.5% per annum has been used in discounting the projected cash flows.

the key assumptions and the approach to determining their value in the current period are:

Assumption   How determined

discount rate   Based on weighted average cost of capital

sales volume growth rate  Based on a three year forecast taking into account historical growth rates and product lifecycle

terminal value growth rate  Based on a three year forecast taking into account historical growth rates and product lifecycle.

the recoverable amount of each cash generating unit including unallocated corporate assets is in excess of their carrying amounts.  
any adverse change in assumptions could reduce the recoverable amount below carrying amount. 
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Assets Liabilities Net

2006 200� 2006 200� 2006 200�

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

16. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Consolidated

plant and equipment 1,793 683 - (302) 1,793 381

intangible assets - - (3,072) (4,339) (3,072) (4,339)

inventories 9,682 6,936 - (1,686) 9,682 5,250

prepayments - - (101) (75) (101) (75)

employee benefits 754 780 - (3) 754 777

provisions 8,535 13,138 - - 8,535 13,138

deferred revenue 7,396 5,404 - - 7,396 5,404

Forward exchange contracts - - (1,541) (374) (1,541) (374)

other 977 - (123) (98) 854 (98)

tax value of loss carry-forwards recognised 5,967 2,400 - - 5,967 2,400

Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) 3�,104 29,341 (4,837) (6,877) 30,267 22,464

Company

plant and equipment 1,103 485 - - 1,103 485

intangible assets - - (1,212) (1,879) (1,212) (1,879)

inventories 854 1,289 - - 854 1,289

provisions 5,983 8,055 - - 5,983 8,055

Forward exchange contracts - - (1,541) (104) (1,541) (104)

other - - (115) (97) (115) (97)

Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) 7,940 9,829 (2,868) (2,080) �,072 7,749

at 30 June 2006, a deferred tax liability of $14,282,667 (2005: $5,151,203) relating to an investment in a subsidiary has not been recognised 
because the company controls whether the liability will be incurred and it is satisfied that it will not be incurred in the foreseeable future. 

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Movement in temporary differences during the year

Consolidated Company

Amounts $000
Balance at 1 July Recognised in 

income
Recognised in 

equity
Balance at 30 

June
Balance at 1 July Recognised in 

income
Recognised in 

equity
Balance at 30 

June

200�

plant and equipment 342 39 - 381 652 (167) - 485

intangible assets (945) (3,394) - (4,339) (945) (934) - (1.879)

inventories 3,645 1,605 - 5,250 866 423 - 1,289

prepayments (72) (3) - (75) - - - -

employee benefits 722 55 - 777 - - - -

provisions 12,519 619 - 13,138 5,892 2,163 - 8,055

deferred revenue 5,373 31 - 5,404 275 (275) - -

Foreign exchange movement (355) (19) - (374) (378) 274 - (104)

other (278) 180 - (98) (278) 181 - (97)

tax value of loss carry- 
forwards recognised - 2,400 - 2,400 - - - -

20,9�1 1,�13 - 22,464 6,084 1,66� - 7,749

2006

plant and equipment 381 1,412 - 1,793 485 618 - 1,103

intangible assets (4,339) 1,267 - (3,072) (1,879) 667 - (1,212)

inventories 5,250 4,432 - 9,682 1,289 (435) - 854

prepayments (75) (26) - (101) - - -

employee benefits 777 (23) - 754 - - -

provisions 13,138 (4,603) - 8,535 8,055 (2,072) - 5,983

deferred revenue 5,404 1,992 - 7,396 - - -

Foreign exchange movement (i) (8,560) 374 6,645 (1,541) (8,290) 104 6,645 (1,541)

other (98) 952 - 854 (97) (18) - (115)

tax value of loss carry- 
forwards recognised 2,400 3,567 - 5,967 - - - -

14,278 9,344 6,64� 30,267 (437) (1,136) 6,64� �,072

(i) Foreign exchange movement includes $8,186,000 of opening balance adjustment for the deferred tax liabilities on deferred gain on hedges as set out in note 2.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

17. Payables

Current

Trade creditors and other creditors �7,34� 46,�39 28,337 18,914

18. Other liabilities

Current

deferred foreign exchange hedge gain - 17,350 - 17,350

deferred revenue 23,525 28,046 857 972

Total current other liabilities 23,�2� 4�,396 8�7 18,322

Non-current 

deferred foreign exchange hedge gain - 9,938 - 9,938

Forward exchange contracts 764 - 764 -

Total non-current other liabilities 764 9,938 764 9,938

19. Interest bearing liabilities

Current

Bank overdrafts 1,747 2,450 - 1,273

Bank loans, secured 68,800 61,657 - -

Total current interest bearing liabilities 70,�47 64,107 - 1,273

Non-current

Bank loans, secured 12�,493 138,9�1 - -

Financing arrangements

the consolidated entity has access to the following  
lines of credit at reporting date:

Bank overdrafts 3,747 3,177 2,000 2,000

Bank loans 200,309 237,056 5,000 5,000

standby letters of credit 3,004 227 227 227

Bank guarantee facility 292 280 280 280

207,3�2 240,740 7,�07 7,�07

Facilities utilised at reporting date

Bank overdrafts 1,747 2,450 - 1,273

Bank loans 194,293 200,608 - -

standby letters of credit 191 191 191 191

Bank guarantee facility 279 279 279 279

196,�10 203,�28 470 1,743

Facilities not utilised at reporting date

Bank overdrafts 2,000 727 2,000 727

Bank loans 6,016 36,448 5,000 5,000

standby letters of credit 2,813 36 36 36

Bank guarantee facility 13 1 1 1

10,842 37,212 7,037 �,764

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Bank overdrafts

the bank overdrafts are payable on demand and are subject to annual review. interest on bank overdrafts is variable and is charged at 
prevailing market rates.

Bank loans

the bank loans were secured by a letter of guarantee provided by the company and are payable within one to five years. Refer to note 30 
for details.

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

20. Commitments

Operating lease commitments

Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals not  
provided for in the financial statements are payable as follows:

not later than one year 5,886 5,165 2,323 1,995

later than one year but not later than five years 12,881 15,979 5,076 6,221

later than five years 2,647 3,161 - -

Total commitments 21,414 24,30� 7,399 8,216

Capital expenditure commitments

contracted but not provided for and payable:

not later than one year 1,294 584 1,294 584

the consolidated entity leases property under non-cancellable operating leases expiring from one to seven years. leases generally provide 
the consolidated entity with a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated. lease payments comprise a base amount plus an 
incremental contingent rental. contingent rentals are based on movements in the consumer price index.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

21. Provisions

Current

employee benefits 28 14,633 10,949 8,020 7,253

Warranty 7,010 6,206 6,122 5,580

other and legal 5,415 7,386 1,500 3,996

27,0�8 24,�41 1�,642 16,829

Non-current

employee benefits 2,007 2,377 1,292 1,158

Warranty 1,673 1,076 1,673 985

directors’ retirement scheme 1,457 1,327 1,457 1,327

make good lease costs 1,296 1,328 1,233 1,233

6,433 6,108 �,6�� 4,703

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class  
of provision, except for the employee benefits provision,  
are set out below:

Warranty 

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 7,282 6,616 6,565 6,565

provisions made during financial year 7,635 6,214 7,352 871

acquisitions through business combinations - 658 - -

provisions used during financial year (6,312) (6,206) (6,122) (871)

effects of movements in foreign exchange 78 - - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 8,683 7,282 7,79� 6,�6�

Other and legal

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 7,386 9,731 3,996 3,000

provisions made during financial year 1,505 437 - 1,154

acquisitions through business combinations - 375 - -

provisions used during financial year (3,612) (3,157) (2,496) (158)

effects of movements in foreign exchange 136 - - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year �,41� 7,386 1,�00 3,996

Directors’ retirement scheme

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 1,327 1,173 1,327 1,173

provisions made during financial year 216 411 216 411

provisions used during financial year (251) (257) (251) (257)

unwind of discount 165 - 165 -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 1,4�7 1,327 1,4�7 1,327

Make good lease costs

carrying amount at beginning of financial year 1,328 1,328 1,233 1,233

provisions made during financial year 63 - - -

provisions used during financial year (95) - - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 1,296 1,328 1,233 1,233

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Employee benefits

employee benefits include entitlements measured at present values of future amounts expected to be paid, based on a 5% per annum 
projected weighted average increase in remuneration rates over an average period of eight years. present values are calculated using a 
weighted average rate of 6% per annum based on national government securities with similar maturity terms.

Warranties

Refer note 1(j) for details of how the provision balance is determined.

Other and legal       .

For details of legal costs relating to the us department of Justice inquiry, refer note 22. For details on the self insurance provision, 
refer note 1(j).

Directors’ retirement scheme

Refer note 21.

Make good lease costs

Refer note 1(j) for details of how the provision balance is determined.

22. Contingent liabilities 

the detail and estimated maximum amounts of contingent liabilities are set out below. the directors are of the opinion that provisions are 
either adequate of are not required in respect of these matters, as it is either not probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be 
required, or the amount is not capable of reliable measurement.

US Department of Justice Inquiry

in march 2004, the company was informed by the us department of Justice (doJ) that cochlear americas, a wholly-owned subsidiary, 
is subject to an inquiry under federal healthcare laws in the us that deal with the medicare and medicaid programs, including some with 
potential criminal and civil sanctions. discussions with the doJ are ongoing, but at the date of this report, no specific claims have been made. 
the company is cooperating fully with the inquiry and has engaged a nationally recognised law firm with specialised expertise in us  
healthcare law.

in prior years the company has recorded a provision in respect of estimated cost of responding to the investigation.

Based on the information available at the date of this report, the financial impact of the investigation has been adequately provided for.

in the directors’ opinion, disclosure of any further information of the above matter would be prejudicial to the interests of the company.

Guarantees

cochlear limited has provided guarantees to Westpac institutional Bank for loan facilities provided to cochlear sweden holdings, cochlear 
americas and cochlear europe limited, all wholly-owned subsidiaries.

the cochlear sweden holdings facility is a multi currency facility with a limit of euro 94.4 million, or equivalent thereof.   
the outstanding balance of the loan at reporting date was seK 866.5 million (euro 94.4 million).

the cochlear americas facility is for usd 12.0 million. the outstanding balance of the loan at reporting date was usd 12.0 million.

the cochlear europe limited facility is for GBp 7.5 million. the outstanding balance of the loan at reporting date was GBp 7.1 million.



3�

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

23. Contributed equity

Share capital

54,636,995 (2005: 54,169,325) ordinary shares fully paid(i) 66,663 49,375 66,663 49,375

Issued share capital

54,812,840 (2005: 54,289,477) ordinary shares fully paid(i)

Movements in issued share capital

Balance at beginning of financial year 50,746 50,746 50,746 50,746

14,170 (2005: 72,870) shares issued for nil consideration  
under the employee share plan(ii) - - - -

453,500 (2005: nil) shares issued from the exercise of options(iii) 17,288 - 17,288 -

55,693 (2005: 54,917) shares issued for nil consideration under 
the celtip(iv) - - - -

Balance at end of financial year 68,034 �0,746 68,034 �0,746

Treasury reserve

175,845 (2005: 120,152) ordinary shares fully paid(i)

Movements in treasury reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year (1,371) (1,371) (1,371) (1,371)

55,693 (2005: 54,917) shares issued for nil consideration under 
the celtip(iv) - - - -

Balance at end of financial year (1,371) (1,371) (1,371) (1,371)

Net share capital 66,663 49,37� 66,663 49,37�

(i)   holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. ordinary shares have no par value.

(ii)  on 21 september 2005, the company issued 14,170 shares to eligible employees of the consolidated entity under the employee share plan for nil consideration.

(iii) on the 21 september 2005, the company issued 453,500 ordinary shares issued from the exercise of options granted under the esop.

(iv) on 16 december 2005, the company issued 55,693 shares to eligible employees of the consolidated entity under the celtip for nil consideration.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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24. Reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the parent

Consolidated

Amounts $000
Share capital Treasury 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
General 
reserve

Hedging 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total Minority 
interest

Total equity

200�

Balance as at 1 July 2004 50,746 (1,371) (1,885) 84 - 86,154 133,728 6,511 140,239

total recognised income and expense - - (2,106) (10) - 59,544 57,428 (1,770) 55,658

crystallisation of foreign currency 
translation reserve - - - - - (996) (996) - (996)

equity settled transactions - - - - - 2,592 2,592 - 2,592

dividends to shareholders - - - - - (42,832) (42,832) - (42,832)

Balance at 30 June 200� �0,746 (1,371) (3,991) 74 - 104,462 149,920 4,741 1�4,661

2006

Balance as at 1 July 2005 50,746 (1,371) (3,991) 74 - 104,462 149,920 4,741 154,661

effect of change in accounting policy - - - - 19,102 - 19,102 - 19,102

opening balance at 1 July 2005 
– restated 50,746 (1,371) (3,991) 74 19,102 104,462 169,022 4,741 173,763

total recognised income and expense - - 3,329 2 (15,506) 80,032 67,857 (2,500) 65,357

shares issued 17,288 - - - - - 17,288 - 17,288

equity settled transactions - - - - - 2,466 2,466 - 2,466

dividends to shareholders - - - - - (49,096) (49,096) - (49,096)

Balance at 30 June 2006 68,034 (1,371) (662) 76 3,�96 137,864 207,�37 2,241 209,778
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Company

Amounts $000
Share capital Treasury 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
General 
reserve

Hedging 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total Minority 
interest

Total equity

200�

Balance as at 1 July 2004 50,746 (1,371) (513) - - 75,952 124,814 - 124,814

total recognised income and expense - 385 - - 61,090 61,475 - 61,475

shares issued - - - - - - - -

equity settled transactions - - - - 1,811 1,811 - 1,811

dividends to shareholders - - - - (42,832) (42,832) - (42,832)

Balance at 30 June 200� �0,746 (1,371) (128) - - 96,021 14�,268 - 14�,268

2006

Balance as at 1 July 2005 50,746 (1,371) (128) - - 96,021 145,268 - 145,268

effect of change in accounting policy - - - - 19,102 - 19,102 - 19,102

opening balance at 1 July 2005 
– restated 50,746 (1,371) (128) - 19,102 96,021 164,370 - 164,370

total recognised income and expense - - (391) - (15,506) 67,359 51,462 - 51,462

shares issued 17,288 - - - - - 17,288 - 17,288

equity settled transactions - - - - - 1,673 1,673 - 1,673

dividends to shareholders - - - - - (49,096) (49,096) - (49,096)

Balance at 30 June 2006 68,034 (1,371) (�19) - 3,�96 11�,9�7 18�,697 - 18�,697

Treasury reserve

the treasury reserve comprises the on market value of shares acquired by the celtip trust. 

Foreign currency translation reserve

the foreign currency translation reserve records the foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity. Refer to note1(f) for 
further details.

Hedging reserve

the hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to 
hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.
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2�. Notes to the statements of cash flows

Cash assets

the operating account received an average interest rate of:

• company 4.8% (2005: 4.8%) per annum; and

• consolidated 2.4% (2005: 1.3%) per annum.

cash held on deposit for periods not exceeding 90 days received an average interest rate of:

• company 5.6% (2005: 5.4%) per annum; and

• consolidated 5.6% (2005: 5.4%) per annum.

(a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank and term deposits, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. cash as at reporting date as shown in the statements of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheets  
as follows:

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

cash on hand 62,778 33,299 3,163 64

cash on deposit 24,295 72,778 24,295 72,127

87,073 106,077 27,458 72,191

Bank overdrafts 19 (1,747) (2,450) - (1,273)

8�,326 103,627 27,4�8 70,918

(b)  Reconciliation of net profit to net cash provided by 
operating activities

net profit 78,225 58,474 67,359 61,188

Add items classified as investing activities

loss/(gain) on disposal of non-current assets 20 7 (177) -

Add non-cash items

amounts set aside to provisions 18,681 10,243 11,179 7,493

depreciation and amortisation 16,075 11,671 9,924 9,745

share based payments 2,466 2,592 1,673 1,811

net cash provided by operating activities before changes in 
assets and liabilities 115,467 82,987 89,958 80,237

Changes in assets and liabilities

(increase)/decrease in receivables (29,464) (1,488) (61,981) (18,034)

(increase)/decrease in inventories (27,304) 2,342 (21,483) 7,703

(increase)/decrease in prepayments (1,930) 4,402 (326) (591)

(increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (7,803) (4,673) 2,677 (749)

increase/(decrease) in payables 10,806 (1,252) 9,423 1,758

increase in current tax liabilities 12,526 8,879 6,027 9,020

decrease in provisions (15,840) (3,567) (11,414) (4,149)

(decrease)/increase in deferred revenue (4,521) 19,071 (115) 972

effects of movements in foreign exchange (382) (3,692) (830) (128)

Net cash provided by operating activities �1,��� 103,009 11,936 76,039
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Interest held Country of incorporation/ 
formation

Note 2006 % 200� %

26. Controlled entities

(a) Particulars in relation to controlled entities

Company

cochlear limited australia

Controlled entities

cochlear executive long term incentive plan         
(performance shares) trust 100 100 australia

cochlear europe limited (i) 100 100 uK

cochlear acoustics limited (i) 75 75 uK

cochlear aG (i) 100 100 switzerland

cochlear (uK) limited (i), (ii) 100 100 uK

cochlear Gmbh (i) 100 100 Germany

cochlear americas (i) 100 100 usa

cochlear (hK) limited (i) 100 100 hong Kong

nihon cochlear co limited (i) 100 100 Japan

neopraxis pty limited (ii) 100 100 australia

cochlear technologies pty limited 100 100 australia

medical insurance pte limited (i) 100 100 singapore

cochlear holdings nV (i) 100 100 Belgium

miaki nV (i) 100 100 Belgium

cochlear Benelux nV (i) 100 100 Belgium

cochlear France sas (i) 100 100 France

cochlear France holdings sas (i) 100 100 France

cochlear italia sRl (i) 100 100 italy

cochlear sweden holdings (i) 100 100 sweden

entific medical systems aB (i) 100 100 sweden

entific medical systems inc (i) 100 100 usa

cochlear canada inc (i), (iii) 100 100 canada

entific medical systems sas (i) 100 100 France

entific medical systems deutschland Gmbh (i) 100 100 Germany

entific australia pty ltd (ii) 100 100 australia

cochlear nordic aB (i), (iv) 100 100 sweden

(i) these entities are audited by other member firms of KpmG. 
(ii) dormant. 
(iii) name changed from entific canada inc on 29 august 2005. 
(iv) name changed from entific harbour aB on 22 november 2005. 

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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(b) Acquisition of controlled entities

during the previous financial year, the following acquisitions were made in the consolidated entity:

(i)  three distribution businesses were acquired, being:

 •  on 1 July 2004, nihon cochlear co limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company, acquired the cochlear implant distribution business from its 
distributor for cash;

 •  on 1 July 2004, the consolidated entity purchased 100% of the voting shares of miaki nV, a distributor of cochlear limited products, incorporated in 
Belgium. at the time of acquisition, miaki nV owned 100% of the voting shares of newmedic nV, which was subsequently renamed to cochlear Benelux 
nV;

 •  on 1 november 2004, the consolidated entity purchased 100% of the voting shares of newmedic international sas, a distributor of cochlear limited 
products, incorporated in France. newmedic international sas was subsequently renamed to cochlear France sas; and

(ii) on 8 march 2005, the consolidated entity purchased 100% of the shares of entific medical systems aB. a company incorporated in sweden. the company 
designs, manufactures and distributes bone anchored hearing implants.   

details of each acquisition are as follows:

Distributor businesses Entific Medical Systems AB

Amounts $000 Carrying amounts Fair value 
adjustments

Recognised values Carrying amounts Fair value 
adjustments

Recognised values

cash and cash equivalents 2,702 - 2,702 19,039 - 19,039

Receivables 7,096 - 7,096 8,438 - 8,438

inventories 3,267 - 3,267 3,755 398 4,153

plant and equipment 190 - 190 852 - 852

intangible assets 590 - 590 - 9,050 9,050

payables (5,688) - (5,688) (10,446) - (10,446)

interest bearing liabilities (318) - (318) - - -

provisions - - - (1,033) - (1,033)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 7,839 - 7,839 20,60� 9,448 30,0�3

Goodwill on acquisition - - 14,178 - - 165,284

consideration paid - - 22,017 - - 195,337

cash acquired - - (2,702) - - (19,039)

Net cash outflow - - 19,31� - - 176,298

if all of the acquistions above had occurred on 1 July 2004, the consolidated entity revenue would have been $379,219,919 and net profit attributable to equity 
holders would have been $54,069,073 for the year ended 30 June 2005 assuming the result during the period prior to aquisitions was the same (on a pro-rata 
basis) as the period following the acquisitions.
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27. Key management personnel disclosures

the following were key management personnel of the consolidated entitiy at any time during the reporting period and unless otherwise 
indicated were key management personnel for the entire period:

Non-executive directors

mr tce Bergman (chairman)

prof Bdo anderson, ao (resigned 20 october 2005)

mr pR Bell (appointed 1 august 2005)

prof e Byrne, ao

mr R holliday-smith

mr pJ north, am

mr dp o’dwyer (appointed 1 august 2005)

mr J h Veeneklaas

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts

dr Jl parker

Executives

mr R Brook

mr nJ mitchell

mr md salmon

mr cm smith

Key management personnel disclosures

the key management personnel compensation is included in employee benefits expense as follows:

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

short-term employee benefits 4,766 4,568 3,604 3,266

post-employment benefits 595 583 560 535

other long-term benefits 36 28 36 28

equity compensation benefits 773 474 505 288

6,170 �,6�3 4,70� 4,117

individual directors and executives remuneration disclosures information regarding individual directions and executives remuneration is 
provided in the Remuneration report on page 62 to 70.
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Options and performance shares granted as compensation
the movement during the financial year in the number of options and performance shares over ordinary shares of cochlear limited  
held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their personally related entities, is as follows:

Held at 1 July 2005 Granted as 
remuneration

Vested and 
exercised

Forfeited Held at 30 June 
2006

Vested and 
exercisable at 30 

June 2006

Option holdings

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts 164,321 79,468 - - 243,789 -

dr Jl parker 112,733 28,447 (25,000) (25,000) 91,180 -

Executives

mr R Brook 80,782 36,138 - - 116,920 -

mr nJ mitchell 107,847 27,949 (25,000) (25,000) 85,796 -

mr md salmon 38,904 27,174 - - 66,078 -

mr cm smith 165,830 28,646 - - 194,476 -

Performance share holdings

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts 10,595 5,923 - - 16,518 -

dr Jl parker 5,365 2,120 - - 7,485 -

Executives

mr R Brook 6,879 2,694 - - 9,573 -

mr nJ mitchell 4,946 2,083 - - 7,029 -

mr md salmon 2,508 2,025 - - 4,533 -

mr cm smith - 2,135 - - 2,135 -

no options held by key management personnel are vested but not exercisable.

all options and performance shares granted in the 2006 financial year were granted on 22 august 2005 and vest in august 2008. 
options have an expiration date of 30 september 2010. no options or performance shares have been granted since the end of the 
financial year. the options and performance shares were provided at no cost to the recipients. 

all options granted during the financial year have an exercise price of $39.93 per share and a fair value of $4.63 per share at grant 
date for options with performance based conditions and $3.48 per share at grant date for options with market based conditions. 
the performance shares granted during the financial year had a fair value at grant date of $21.36 per share with performance based 
conditions and $16.02 per share at grant date for performance shares with market based conditions.
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Held at 1 July 2004 Granted as 
remuneration

Vested and 
exercised

Forfeited Held at 30 June 
2005

Vested and 
exercisable at 30 

June 2005

Option holdings

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts - 164,321 - - 164,321 -

dr Jl parker 70,584 42,149 - - 112,733 -

Executives

mr R Brook 26,046 54,736 - - 80,782 -

mr nJ mitchell 68,961 38,886 - - 107,847 -

mr md salmon - 38,904 - - 38,904 -

mr cm smith - 165,830 - - 165,830 -

Performance share holdings

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts - 10,595 - - 10,595 -

dr Jl parker 2,648 2,717 - - 5,365 -

Executives

mr R Brook 3,350 3,529 - - 6,879 -

mr nJ mitchell 2,439 2,507 - - 4,946 -

mr md salmon - 2,508 - - 2,508 -

mr cm smith - - - - - -

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Movement in shares

the movement during the financial year in the number of ordinary shares of cochlear limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each 
key management person, including their personally related entities, is as follows:

Held at 1 July 2005 Purchases Received on exercise  
  of options

Sales Held at 30 June 2006

Directors

Non-executive

mr tce Bergman 12,000 - - - 12,000

mr pR Bell - 1,500 - - 1,500

prof e Byrne, ao 1,000 - - - 1,000

mr R holliday-smith 1,000 - - - 1,000

mr pJ north, am 13,000 - - - 13,000

mr dp o’dwyer - 2,450 - - 2,450

mr Jh Veeneklaas 1,000 - - - 1,000

Executive

dr Jl parker 25,000 - 25,000 (25,000) 25,000

dr cG Roberts 237,000 - - - 237,000

Executives

mr R Brook - - - - -

mr nJ mitchell 35,000 - 25,000 (25,000) 35,000

mr md salmon 1,457 1,000 - - 2,457

mr cm smith - - - - -

Held at 1 July 2004 Purchases Received on exercise  
  of options

Sales Held at 30 June 2005

Directors

Non-executive

mr tce Bergman 12,000 - - - 12,000

mr pR Bell (i) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

prof e Byrne, ao 1,000 - - - 1,000

mr R holliday-smith n/a 1,000 - - 1,000

mr pJ north, am 13,000 - - - 13,000

mr dp o’dwyer (i) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

mr Jh Veeneklaas 1,000 - - - 1,000

Non-executive

dr Jl parker 25,000 - - - 25,000

dr cG Roberts 162,000 75,000 - - 237,000

Executives

mr R Brook - - - - -

mr nJ mitchell 15,000 20,000 - - 35,000

mr md salmon - 1,457 - - 1,457

mr cm smith - - - - -

(i) appointed director 1 august 2005
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

28. Employee benefits

Current

liability for long service leave 2,586 1,381 1,731 1,381

liability for annual leave 6,565 5,138 4,346 3,643

liability for short-term incentive 5,482 4,440 1,943 2,229

21 14,633 10,959 8,020 7,253

salary and wages accrued 2,664 1,500 1,122 710

Total current employee benefits 17,297 12,4�9 9,142 7,963

Non-current

present value of funded obligations 3,293 4,089 3,293 4,089

Fair value of plan assets – funded (3,647) (4,891) (3,647) (4,891)

Present value of net obligations (3�4) (802) (3�4) (802)

adjustment for asset ceiling 30 478 30 478

Recognised liability for defined benefit obligation(i) (324) (324) (324) (324)

liability for long service leave 21 2,007 2,377 1,292 1,158

directors’ retirement scheme(ii) 21 1,457 1,327 1,457 1,327

Total employee benefits 3,140 3,380 2,42� 2,161

(i)  Recognised in other assets.

(ii)  the cochlear limited directors’ retirement scheme provides retiring non-executive directors with more than five years service the benefit of up to three times their average annual remuneration over the 
previous three years. the directors’ retirement scheme was closed to new directors effective from 2003.

(a) Liability for defined benefit obligation

the consolidated entity and the company make contributions to defined benefit plans that provide pension benefits for employees 
upon retirement.  

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Movement in the net asset for defined benefit obligation 
recognised directly in retained earnings

net asset for defined benefit obligation at 1 July 324 603 324 603

contributions received 167 197 167 197

expense recognised in the income statement (167) (336) (167) (336)

actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in the statement of 
recognised income and expense - (140) - (140)

Net asset for defined benefit obligation at 30 June 324 324 324 324

Defined benefit pension plans

amounts in the balance sheet:

assets 324 324 324 324

liabilities - - - -

Net asset 324 324 324 324

Amounts for the current and previous four  
years are as follows:

defined benefit obligation (3,293) (4,089) (3,293) (4,089)

plan assets 3,647 4,891 3,647 4,891

surplus/(deficit) 354 802 354 802

experience adjustments on plan liabilities (647) 64 (647) 64

experience adjustments on plan assets 266 4 266 4

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are 
as follows:

opening defined benefit obligation 4,089 3,600 4,089 3,600

service cost 275 264 275 264

interest cost 234 170 234 170

actuarial losses/(gains) 647 262 647 262

contributions by plan par ticipants 50 92 50 92

Benefits paid (2,002) (299) (2,002) (299)

Closing defined benefit obligation 3,293 4,089 3,293 4,089

Changes in fair values of plan assets are as follows:

opening fair value of plan assets 4,891 4,551 4,891 4,551

expected return 275 346 275 346

actuarial gains/(losses) 266 4 266 4

contributions by employer 167 197 167 197

contributions by plan par ticipants 50 92 50 92

Benefits paid (2,002) (299) (2,002) (299)

Closing fair value of plan assets 3,647 4,891 3,647 4,891

the consolidated entity and company have used the exemption in aasB 1 and disclosed amounts above for each annual reporting period 
prospectively from the transition date to aiFRs.
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the major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

international equities 20.8% 21,7% 20.8% 21.7%

australian equities 23.5% 24.5% 23.5% 24.5%

australian fixed interest 25.7% 15.0% 25.7% 15.0%

international fixed interest 9.2% 10.0% 9.2% 10.0%

property 4.3% 2.8% 4.3% 2.8%

cash 16.5% 26.0% 16.5% 26.0%

the consolidated entity’s investment policies and strategies for the pension benefits do not use target allocations for the individual asset 
categories. the consolidated entity’s investment goals are to maximise returns subject to specific risk management policies. the consolidated 
entity addresses diversification by the use of mutual fund investments whose underlying investments are in a balanced portfolio of growth and 
defensive assets. these mutual funds are readily marketable and can be sold to fund benefit payment obligations as they become payable.

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

Expense recognised in the income statement

service cost 275 264 275 264

interest cost 234 170 234 170

expected return (275) (346) (275) (346)

adjustment for asset ceiling (67) 248 (67) 248

167 336 167 336

expenses are recognised in the administration expenses line of the income statement.

the actual return on plan assets for the year ended 30 June 2006 was $416,000 (2005: $350,000).

the consolidated entity expects to contribute $370,014 to its defined benefit plans in the 2007 financial year.

Principal actuarial assumptions

principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages per annum):

Consolidated Company

2006 200� 2006 200�

discount rate at 30 June 5.7% 5.2% 5.7% 5.2%

expected return on plan assets at 30 June 7.7% 7.3% 7.7% 7.3%

Future salary increases 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

the overall expected long-term rate of return on assets is 7.7% per annum.  the expected long-term rate of return is based on the  
portfolio as a whole and not on the sum of the returns on individual asset categories.  the return is based exclusively on historical  
returns, without adjustments.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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(b) Surplus/(deficit) for each defined benefit plan on a funding basis

Amounts $000 Consolidated

2006(i) 2005(ii)

Plan assets Accrued 
benefit(iii)

Plan surplus/
(deficit)

Contribution 
recommen- 
dations (per 

year)(iv)

Plan assets Accrued 
benefits(iii)

Plan surplus/
(deficit)

Contribution 
recommen- 
dations (per 

year)(iv)

cochlear superannuation plans 27,667 27,313 354 4,131 19,714 18,566 1,148 3,934

(i) plan assets at net market value, and accrued benefits have been calculated at 30 June 2006, being the date of the most recent f inancial statements of the plans.

(ii) plan assets at net market value and accrued benefits were calculated at 30 June 2005, being the date of the most recent f inancial statements of the plans.

(iii)  accrued benefits are benefits which the plans are presently obliged to pay at some future date, as a result of membership of the plans and calculated in accordance with aas 25 Financial Reporting by 
superannuation plans. accordingly, the excess/(deficit) does not always equal the defined benefit obligation.the consolidated entity has a legal liability to make up a deficit in the funds but no legal right to 
benefit from any surplus in the funds other than by way of contribution holiday.

(iv)  contribution recommendations are based on a funding methodology that will result in adequate funding for payments expected to be made over the next f ive years. the levels of the contributions 
to the plans are reassessed annually.

the principal economic assumptions used in making these recommendations include (on a per annum basis):

Consolidated

2006 200�

expected return on plan assets 7.7% 7.3%

Future salary increases 4.0% 4.0%

(c) Defined contribution superannuation plan

the consolidated entity makes contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans. the amount recognised as expense was $5,607,060 
for the year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: $4,442,242).

(d) Share based payments

the company’s employee share plan was approved by special resolution at the annual General meeting held on 19 october 1999. under this 
plan, the directors can at their discretion, allocate at nil consideration up to a maximum of $2,000 worth of shares per eligible employee in any 
one year. the fair value of shares issued during the reporting period is the market price of the company’s shares on the asX as at the start of 
trading on the issue date. shares under the plan vest with the employee immediately but are non-transferable for a period of up to three years.

the celtip was approved and adopted at the annual General meeting on 20 october 2003 and replaced the esop.  the celtip offers a 
mixture of options over unissued shares and performance shares. Both the options and the performance shares are subject to a three year 
vesting period.  the number of options and shares exercisable by the executives will depend on the performance of the consolidated entity 
over the vesting period. half of the offer will be assessed against the compound annual growth rate of the earnings per share achieved by 
the consolidated entity, and the other half against the total shareholder return (tsR) as measured against the s&p/asX 100. if the minimum 
compound growth rate in earnings per share of 10% is not achieved, 50% of shares will not be issued or released to the executives. if the 
consolidated entity is below the 50th percentile against the s&p/asX 100 over the three years, the remaining 50% of shares will not be issued 
or released.  

to achieve a 100% allocation of options and shares, an annual compound growth rate in earnings per share of 20% must be achieved 
and the total shareholder return of the consolidated entity must be in at least the 75th percentile against the s&p/asX 100.

at the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the company under option and issued shares held in the trust are:
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Grant date Number of 
instruments

Conditions for minimum vesting Contractual life of 
options

option grant 
in december 2003 96,380

         three years of service, a minimum compound annual growth 
rate in earnings per share of 10%. 5 years

96,381
         the consolidated entity is above the 50th percentile against 

the s&p/asX 100 over three years. 5 years

option grant  
in august 2004 357,770

         three years of service, a minimum compound annual growth 
rate in earnings per share of 10%. 5 years

357,770
         the consolidated entity is above the 50th percentile against 

the s&p/asX 100 over three years. 5 years

option grant 
in august 2005 362,952

         three years of service, a minimum compound annual growth 
rate in earnings per share of 10%. 5 years

362,951
         the consolidated entity is above the 50th percentile against 

the s&p/asX 100 over three years. 5 years

Total options 1,634,204
Contractual life of  

shares in trust

performance shares issued            
in december 2003 27,122

         three years of service, a minimum compound annual growth 
rate in earnings per share of 10%. 3 years

27,122
         the consolidated entity is above the 50th percentile against 

the s&p/asX 100 over three years. 3 years

performance shares issued            
in august 2004 29,214

         three years of service, a minimum compound annual growth 
rate in earnings per share of 10%. 3 years

29,215
         the consolidated entity is above the 50th percentile against 

the s&p/asX 100 over three years. 3 years

performance shares issued            
in august 2005 31,086

         three years of service, a minimum compound annual growth 
rate in earnings per share of 10%. 3 years

31,086
         the consolidated entity is above the 50th percentile against 

the s&p/asX 100 over three years. 3 years

Total performance shares 174,84�

Weighted 
average 

exercise price $

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price $

Number of 
options

2006 2006 200� 200�

outstanding at beginning of financial year 30.27 1,898,251 37.55 2,148,761

Forfeited during financial year 18.97 (22,950) 37.66 (989,000)

exercised/forfieted during financial year(i) 38.12 (967,000) - -

Granted during financial year 39.93 725,903 18.97 738,490

outstanding at end of financial year 30.10 1,634,204 30.27 1,898,251

exercisable at end of financial year 34.19 192,761 38.12 967,000

(i) Weighted average share price at date of exercise was $40.84.

the estimated value of options for the current financial year is calculated at the date of grant using the Black-scholes model, applying a 25% 
volatility, as reflected in the historical volatility.

For options outstanding at the end of the period, 715,540 options have an exercise price of $18.97 with the remaining balance falling within 
the range of $34.19 – $39.93 (2005: 738,490 options at $18.97 and the remainder falling within the range of $34.19 – $38.12). the weighted 
average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the year is three years (2005: two years).

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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29. Related parties

Non-director related parties

the company engages in purchases and sales of goods with its controlled entities and pays a licence fee for the use of intellectual 
property. these transactions are in the ordinary course of business on a transfer pricing basis and 45 day terms apply.

the aggregate amounts included in the profit before tax for the company that resulted from transactions with non-director related 
par ties are:

Company

2006 200�

$000 $000

Revenue from the sale of goods 229,657 175,333

distribution, marketing and field technical expenses 7,600 -

interest income 3,126 175

dividend from controlled entities - 5,131

interest expense 365 270

the aggregate amounts receivable from wholly-owned controlled entities by the company at reporting date are:

current receivables 88,782 30,542

30. Financial instruments

exposure to credit, foreign exchange and interest rate risks arises in the normal course of the consolidated entity’s business. derivative financial 
instruments are used to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Credit risk

at the balance sheet date, there was no significant concentrations of credit risk. the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet.

Foreign exchange risk

the consolidated entity and the company are exposed to changes in foreign exchange rates from their activities. it is the consolidated 
entity’s and the company’s policy to use forward exchange contracts to hedge these risks. the consolidated entity and the company 
do not enter, hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

the company enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge anticipated sales and purchases in us dollars, euro, Japanese yen, 
swedish Kroner and hong Kong dollars.

the amounts of forward cover taken are in accordance with approved policy and internal forecasts.

the following table sets out the gross value to be received under forward exchange contracts and the weighted average contracted 
exchange rates of outstanding contracts:
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Foreign exchange rates Consolidated

2006 200� 2006 200�

Note $000 $000

Sell United States Dollar

not later than one year 95,937 67,346

later than one year but not later than two years 45,802 37,842

later than two years but not later than three years 5,956 4,052

Weighted average exchange rates contracted 0.72 0.67

Sell euro

not later than one year 104,656 62,031

later than one year but not later than two years 56,251 37,496

later than two years but not later than three years 6,070 3,479

Weighted average exchange rates contracted 0.57 0.56

Sell Japanese Yen

not later than one year 8,962 9,204

later than one year but not later than two years 3,893 4,536

later than two years but not later than three years 503 -

Weighted average exchange rates contracted 68.43 50.03

Sell Hong Kong Dollar

not later than one year - 10,160

later than one year but not later than two years - 5,107

later than two years but not later than three years - -

Weighted average exchange rates contracted - 4.87

Buy Sweden Kroner

not later than one year 24,986 -

later than one year but not later than two years 36,056 -

later than two years but not later than three years - -

Weighted average exchange rates contracted 5.29 -

Forecast transactions

the consolidated entity classifies its forward exchange contracts hedging forecast transactions as cash flow hedges and states them at  
fair value. the fair value of forward exchange contracts at 1 July 2005 was adjusted against the opening balance of the hedging reserve at  
that date.

the net fair value of forward exchange contracts used as hedges of forecast transactions at 30 June 2006 was $5.1 million  
(2005: $27.3million). 

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Interest rate risk

Effective interest rates, repayment and repricing analysis 
in respect of interest bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest rates at the reporting date. as the liabilities 
are subject to variable interest rates, they reprice within six months. the repayment schedule is as follows:

Consolidated 2006 2005

Amounts $000

Effective 
interest rate 

per annum

12 months 
or less

1 – 2 years 2 – � years More than � 
years

Total Effective 
interest rate 

per annum

12 months 
or less

1 – 2 years 2 – � years More than � 
years

Total

secured bank loans:

  GBp floating rate loan 5.1% 17,511 - - - 17,511 3.9% 15,060 - - - 15,060

  seK floating rate loan 3.2% 34,902 34,902 90,591 - 160,395 2.6% 32,361 31,439 107,512 - 171,312

  usd floating rate loan 5.7% 16,387 - - - 16,387 3.5% 14,236 - - - 14,236

Jpy bank overdraft 1.7% 1,747 - - - 1,747 1.7% 1,177 - - - 1,177

aud bank overdraft - - - - - - 8.8% 1,273 - - - 1,273

70,�47 34,902 90,�91 196,040 64,107 31,439 107,�12 - 203,0�8

Company 2006 2005

Amounts $000

Effective 
interest rate 

per annum

12 months 
or less

1 – 2 years 2 – � years More than � 
years

Total Effective 
interest rate 

per annum

12 months 
or less

1 – 2 years 2 – � years More than � 
years

Total

aud bank overdraft - - - - - - 8.8% 1,273 - - - 1,273

trade receivables and trade payables are not interest bearing and the related cash flows are not subject to interest rate risk.

31. Impact of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

Impact of transition to AIFRS

as stated in note 1(a), these are the consolidated entity’s and the company’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with aiFRs.

the policies set out in note 1(a) have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 and the comparative 
information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2005 and in the preparation of an opening aiFRs balance sheet 
at 1 July 2004 (the consolidated entity’s date of transition).

in preparing their opening aiFRs balance sheet, the consolidated entity and the company have adjusted amounts reported previously in 
financial statements prepared in accordance with previous Gaap.  an explanation of how the transition from previous Gaap to aiFRs has 
affected the consolidated entity’s and the company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables 
and the notes that accompany the tables.

(a) Reclassifications

under aiFRs, financial income consisting of interest income and foreign exchange gains has been transferred from the revenue line to the 
net financing income line in the income statement for the year ended 30 June 2005, resulting in a reduction in revenue of $2,700,000 for the 
consolidated entity (company: $2,658,000).

in addition, other income has been reclassified from revenue to form part of operating profit before financing income. this resulted in a 
reduction to revenue of $963,000 for the year ended 30 June 2005 for the consolidated entity (company: $5,946,000).

under previous Gaap, enterprise resource planning system development costs were classified as plant and equipment in the financial 
statements. under aiFRs, these costs have been reclassified as intangible assets. For the consolidated entity and the company, this resulted 
in $3,899,000 being reclassified from plant and equipment to intangible assets at 1 July 2004 and $5,039,000 for the consolidated entity 
(company: $2,000,000) at 30 June 2005.

other debtor balances have been reclassified from other assets to receivables. this resulted in an increase in receivables in the consolidated 
entity of $9,164,000 (company: $3,275,000) at 1 July 2004 and $8,686,000 for the consolidated entity (company: $2,916,000) at  
30 June 2005.

other non-current receivables have been reclassified from non-current receivables to non-current other financial assets. this resulted in an 
increase in non-current other financial assets in the consolidated entity of $175,000 (company: nil) at 1 July 2004 and $187,000 for the 
consolidated entity (company: $32,000) at 30 June 2005.
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(b) Business combinations

as permitted by the election available under aasB 1, the classification and accounting treatment of business combinations that occurred prior 
to transition date have not been restated in preparing the transition date aiFRs balance sheet.  the assets and liabilities are subject to the 
other requirements of aasB 1, as discussed below.

under aiFRs, inventory acquired as part of a business combination is recognised at fair value rather than historical cost. the impact of this 
change at the transition date is nil. For the year ended 30 June 2005, the value of inventory increased by $398,000 with a corresponding 
decrease to goodwill for the consolidated entity.

this fair value adjustment was recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2006 following the sale of inventory in the normal 
course of business.

Business combinations that occurred on or after 1 July 2004 must be accounted for by applying the purchase method. there were no 
adjustments for either the consolidated entity or the company as a result of transition to aiFRs as there were no contingent liabilities or 
restructuring provisions at the respective acquisition dates.

(c) Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of a business combination over the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired. 

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units and tested annually for 
impairment (refer (d) for further details on impairment testing).

Research and development expenditure
under aiFRs, expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and 
the consolidated entity has sufficient resources to complete the development. capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. under previous Gaap, the consolidated entity expensed all development expenditure  
as incurred.  

development expenditure incurred which meet the criteria for deferral was capitalised and an adjustment of $3,149,000 was made as an 
increase to retained earnings for both the consolidated entity and the company at 1 July 2004. For the year ended 30 June 2005, a further 
$4,377,000 of expenditure was deferred. the research and development expenses of the consolidated entity and the company decreased by 
$4,377,000 for the year ended 30 June 2005 as a result of this capitalisation. 

capitalised development expenditure was tested for impairment. no impairment losses were required.

Other intangible assets
other intangible assets acquired are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. on transition and at each subsequent 
reporting date, other intangible assets are reviewed to ensure they can be recognised under aasB 138 Intangible Assets and tested for 
impairment. no reclassifications or impairment losses were required.

Amortisation

amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.  amortisation commences from the 
date the intangible asset is available for use. changes in useful life on transition to aiFRs were accounted for prospectively.  Goodwill is not 
subject to amortisation but tested for impairment annually.  the estimated useful lives are as follows:

AIFRS Previous GAAP

Goodwill indefinite 20 years

acquired technology 4 years 4 years

enterprise resource planning system 2.5 – 4 years 2.5 – 4 years

customer relationships 4 years 4 years

intellectual property 3 years 3 years

capitalised development expenditure 1 – 3 years expensed

the impact on the value of intangible assets and retained earnings of the consolidated entity at transition date is nil and at 30 June 2005 was 
an increase of $1,858,000.  the impact on the results of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2005 is a decrease in distribution, 
marketing and field technical expenses of $577,000 (company: nil) and in administration expenses of $2,544,000 (company: nil) from the 
reversal of the goodwill amortisation offset by an increase to research and development expenses due to the amortisation of $1,263,000 
(company: $1,263,000) of capitalised development expenditure.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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(d)  Impairment
under previous Gaap, the carrying amounts of non-current assets valued on a cost basis were reviewed at reporting date to determine 
whether they were in excess of their recoverable amount. if the carrying amount of a non-current asset was in excess of its recoverable 
amount, the asset was written down to the lower amount and the write-down was recognised in the income statement in the period in which 
it occurred. in assessing recoverable amounts, the relevant cash flows were not discounted to their present value.  

under aiFRs, the carrying amount of non-current assets, excluding goodwill and deferred tax assets, is reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment regardless of whether there are indicators 
of impairment.

if there is any indication that an asset is impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset, or if not possible, for the 
smallest identifiable cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. an impairment loss, represented by the excess of carrying amount over 
recoverable amount, is recognised in the income statement as an impairment loss.  

no impairment write-downs were recorded either at transition date or at 30 June 2005.

(e)  Employee benefits

Defined benefit plans
under previous Gaap, defined benefit plans were accounted for on a funding basis. For the year ended 30 June 2004, an actuarial assessment 
of the company’s defined benefit plan revealed that plan assets were less than vested benefits by $325,778 and this amount was accrued in 
the financial statements.

under aiFRs, a liability or asset in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans is recognised in the balance sheet, and is measured as the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation as at the reporting date plus unrecognised actuarial gains or losses less the fair value of the 
plan’s assets at that date and any unrecognised past service cost.  the present value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected 
future payments which arise from membership of the plans to the reporting date, calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method.  

expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currency that match the estimated future cash flows. the full amount of actuarial gains and losses that arise subsequent to transition date are 
recognised directly in retained earnings in accordance with aasB 119 which was early adopted.    

the aasB 1 election to recognise full actuarial gains and losses at transition date through retained earnings was adopted.  at the date of 
transition, an amount of $603,000 was recognised as an asset of the consolidated entity and the company with a corresponding increase in 
retained earnings, in addition to a reduction in provisions by $324,000 relating to the reversal of a defined benefit obligation.

For the year ended 30 June 2005, an actuarial assessment resulted in a reduction of the net asset position of the plans in the consolidated 
entity and the company by $324,000. this has been recognised as an increase in administration expenses in the income statement.

Share based payments
under previous Gaap, no expense was recognised for options or performance shares issued to employees.  

under aiFRs, the fair value of options and performance shares granted is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity.  the fair value is measured at the date the options or performance shares are granted taking into account market and non-
market based performance conditions and expensed over the vesting period after which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the 
options or performance shares. 

the fair value of the options granted has been measured using the Black-scholes method, taking into account the terms and conditions 
attached to the options. the fair value of the performance shares granted is measured using the weighted average share price of ordinary 
shares in the company, taking into account the terms and conditions attached to the shares. the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of options and shares that vest except where forfeiture is due to market related conditions.    

no adjustment has been made for options granted prior to 7 november 2002 which vested before 1 July 2004. options granted after 7 
november 2002 and remaining unvested at 1 July 2004 have been recognised in the opening balance sheet through retained earnings, resulting 
in a nil impact on transition.  

For the year ended 30 June 2005, employee benefits expense and retained earnings for the consolidated entity increased by $2,592,000 
(company: $1,809,000) representing the share based payments expense for the period.  this was made up of $789,000 (company: $195,000) 
relating to distribution, marketing and field technical expenses, $1,369,000 (company: $1,180,000) relating to administration expenses and 
$434,000 (company: $434,000) relating to research and development expenses.
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(f)  Leased assets – make good provisions

the consolidated entity has a number of operating leases over its offices that require the asset to be returned to the lessor in its original 
condition. the operating lease payments do not include an element for the repairs/overhauls.

under previous Gaap, the costs of refurbishment were not recognised until the expenditure was incurred, whereas under aiFRs a provision 
for refurbishment costs is recognised at the time it is determined that it is probable that such costs will be incurred in a future period, 
measured at the expected cost of returning the asset to the lessor in its original condition. the consolidate entity is expected to incur the 
liability within the next 12 years. an offsetting asset of the same value is also recognised and it classified in the plant and equipment. this asset  
is amortised to the income statement over the life of the lease.

in the consolidated entity at transition date a provision for make good lease costs associated with these operating leases of $1,328,000 
(company: $1,233,000) was made along with an increase in plant and equipment of $1,175,000 (company: $1,126,000) and a decrease in 
retained earnings of $153,000 (company: $107,000).

during the year ended 30 June 2005, $103,000 of the initial amount recorded was expensed, increasing distribution, marketing and field 
technical expenses in the consolidated entity by $21,000 (company: nil) and administration expenses by $82,000 (company: $82,000).

(g)  Foreign operations

under previous Gaap, the assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign operations were translated at the rates of exchange ruling at reporting 
date. equity items and goodwill were translated at historical rates.  the income statements were translated at the average exchange rates. 
exchange differences on translation were recognised directly in the foreign currency translation reserve.

the assets and liabilities of integrated operations were translated using the temporal method. monetary assets and liabilities were translated  
at exchange rates prevailing at reporting date while non-monetary assets and liabilities and revenue and expense items were translated  
at the average exchange rates on the dates of the relevant transactions.. exchange differences arising on translation were recorded in the  
income statement.

under aiFRs, each entity in the consolidated entity maintains its accounts in its functional currency, being the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates.  

the assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated from the 
entity’s functional currency to the consolidated entity’s presentation currency of australian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at reporting 
date, while revenue and expenses are translated to australian dollars at average exchange rates. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.  

the aasB 1 election to reset the existing foreign currency translation reserve balance to nil has not been adopted. 

the impact on the transition balance sheet of the consolidated entity was to reduce reserves and to increase retained earnings by  
$513,000, representing the reclassification of foreign exchange translation losses from a foreign controlled branch to the foreign currency 
translation reserve.

the impact to the consolidated entity and company for the year ended 30 June 2005 was an increase in research and developement 
expenses by $385,000 and a like increase to reserves. in addition, the value of goodwill for the consolidated entity decreased by $13,920,000 
(company: nil) with a corresponding decrease to the foreign currency translation reserve as a result of valuing goodwill at exchange rates 
prevailing at reporting date rather than at historical rates.

(h) Financial instruments

the consolidated entity has taken the election in aasB 1 to not restate comparatives for aasB 132 and aasB 139. as such, there are no 
adjustments in relation to financial instruments at transition date or for the year ended 30 June 2005 as previous Gaap continued to apply.

at 1 July 2005, the consolidated entity has complied with the requirements of aasB 139 in order to qualify for hedge accounting. 
consequently, no adjustments have been made to retained earnings. see note 2 for the impact of this change in accounting policy at  
1 July 2005.

debt establishment costs capitalised and amortised over the term of the borrowing under previous Gaap were recalculated based on the 
effective interest rate method and recognised as a reduction in interest bearing liabilities rather than as a separate asset.  

this resulted in a decrease in receivables of $434,000 and a decrease in current interest bearing liabilities of $99,000 and in non-current 
interest bearing liabilities of $335,000 in the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2005 (company: nil).

(i) Revenue recognition

under previous Gaap, revenue from the sale of goods was recognised when the selling entity transferred control of an asset to the buyer 
whereas under aiFRs, revenue from the sale of goods is only recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have transferred 
from the seller to the buyer with no continuing managerial involvement over the goods to the degree normally associated with ownership.  

specifically under aiFRs, the amount of revenue recognised under certain marketing programs differs to that recognised under previous Gaap.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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the impact of this change in accounting policy at transition date resulted in a reduction to retained earnings of $11,083,000 for the 
consolidated entity (company: $917,000), an increase in deferred revenue of $11,376,000 (company: $917,000) and a decrease in reserves 
of $293,000 for the consolidated entity (company: nil) from the deferral of revenue that had been recognised under previous Gaap.  For the 
year ended 30 June 2005, revenue increased by $4,112,000 (company: $917,000) resulting from a release of deferred revenue of $6,006,000 
(company: $917,000) offset by the deferral of revenue of $1,894,000 (company: nil).

(j) Treasury shares

the company operates the celtip.  the main purpose of the trust is to hold unvested performance shares as part of the celtip. under 
previous Gaap, the trust was not included in the results of the consolidated entity as the consolidation rules did not apply to such special 
purpose entities. under aiFRs, the trust qualifies as an equity compensation plan special purpose entity and its results are included in those for 
the consolidated entity.  

at transition date, the trust held shares of the company. under aiFRs, the shares are accounted for as treasury stock and treated as a 
reduction in the issued capital of the consolidated entity and the company.  the impact on the consolidated entity and the company at 
transition date is a decrease in issued capital of $1,371,000. no further adjustment is required for the year ended 30 June 2005.

at transition date, the consolidated entity and the company had an unamortised balance of $997,000 as a deferred asset on the balance 
sheet, representing the amount paid to the trust in order for it to purchase shares of the company. under aiFRs, this deferred asset is not 
amortised.  the impact at transition date was to increase retained earnings by $374,000 representing the amortisation of the asset to that date, 
and a decrease to the deferred asset of $997,000 for the consolidated entity and the company. the impact for the year ended 30 June 2005 
was a decrease to administration expenses of $499,000 and a decrease to the deferred asset of $499,000 for the consolidated entity and  
the company.  

(k)  Taxation

previous Gaap required the application of the income statement liability method of tax effect accounting, whilst aiFRs requires the balance 
sheet method, whereby income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. income tax is recognised in the income statement except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.  

there were no changes to retained earnings or the deferred tax balances for the consolidated entity at transition date or for the year ended 
30 June 2005 as a result of the change in basis of accounting for income tax.

the tax impact on the consolidated entity of the transition adjustments on the deferred tax balances was an increase in deferred tax assets 
of $3,160,000 and a decrease of $916,000 in the company. this resulted in an increase in retained earnings in the consolidated entity of 
$3,160,000 and a decrease of $916,000 in the company.

the impact of the aiFRs adjustments for the year ended 30 June 2005 was an increase in the income tax expense of the consolidated entity 
of $2,321,000 (company: $1,185,000) and a decrease in deferred tax assets of $1,440,000 (company: $1,920,000).

the recognition of a deferred tax liability was not required in relation to non-amortising intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
under previous Gaap, whereas under aiFRs, a deferred tax liability is recognised in relation to non-amortised intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination.

the effect of this difference was to increase goodwill by $2,460,000 in the consolidated entity and to decrease the deferred tax asset amount 
by $2,460,000. the adjustment to deferred tax asset is reflected in the commentary above.
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Summary of transitional adjustments

the following table sets out the adjustments to the balance sheets of the company and the consolidated entity at transition to aiFRs 
as at 1 July 2004 and for the aiFRs comparative period balance sheet as at 30 June 2005:

Consolidated 
1 July 2004

Consolidated 
30 June 2005

Company 
1 July 2004

Company 
30 June 2005

Amounts $000 Note Previous 
GAAP 

Transition 
impact 

AIFRS 
 

Previous 
GAAP 

Transition 
impact 

AIFRS 
 

Previous 
GAAP 

Transition 
impact 

AIFRS 
 

Previous 
GAAP 

Transition 
impact 

AIFRS 
 

Current assets

cash and cash equivalents 75,946 - 75,946 106,077 - 106,077 58,526 - 58,526 72,191 - 72,191

Receivables (a)(e),(h),(j) 66,656 8,770 75,426 82,961 8,412 91,373 34,674 2,881 37,555 56,497 2,741 59,238

inventories (b) 44,837 - 44,837 49,120 398 49,518 33,429 - 33,429 25,726 - 25,726

other (a) 12,963 (9,164) 3,799 12,872 (8,686) 4,186 5,048 (3,275) 1,773 5,033 (2,916) 2,117

Total current assets 200,402 (394) 200,008 2�1,030 124 2�1,1�4 131,677 (394) 131,283 1�9,447 (17�) 1�9,272

Non-current assets

Receivables 9,633 (175) 9,458 10,125 (187) 9,938 9,458 - 9,458 9,970 (32) 9,938

other financial assets (a),(h) - 175 175 335 (148) 187 6,444 - 6,444 18,489 32 18,521

plant and equipment (a),(f) 29,523 (2,724) 26,799 28,589 (3,965) 24,624 26,947 (2,773) 24,174 20,838 (954) 19,884

intangible assets (a),(b),(c),(g),(k) 7,190 7,048 14,238 191,764 2,565 194,329 - 7,048 7,048 - 8,263 8,263

deferred tax assets (k) 17,791 3,160 20,951 23,904 (1,440) 22,464 7,000 (916) 6,084 9,669 (1,920) 7,749

Total non-current assets 64,137 7,484 71,621 2�4,717 (3,17�) 2�1,�42 49,849 3,3�9 �3,208 �8,966 �,389 64,3��

Total assets 264,�39 7,090 271,629 �0�,747 (3,0�1) �02,696 181,�26 2,96� 184,491 218,413 �,214 223,627

Current liabilities

payables 31,657 - 31,657 46,539 - 46,539 17,156 - 17,156 18,914 - 18,914

interest bearing liabilities (h) 25,867 - 25,867 64,206 (99) 64,107 2,100 - 2,100 1,273 - 1,273

current tax liabilities 4,781 - 4,781 12,455 - 12,455 - - - 8,380 - 8,380

provisions (e) 22,352 (324) 22,028 24,541 - 24,541 14,386 (324) 14,062 16,829 - 16,829

other (i) 21,639 11,376 33,015 38,132 7,264 45,396 12,664 917 13,581 18,322 - 18,322

Total current liabilities 106,296 11,0�2 117,348 18�,873 7,16� 193,038 46,306 �93 46,899 63,718 - 63,718

Non-current liabilities

interest bearing liabilities (h) - - - 139,286 (335) 138,951 - - - - - -

provisions (f) 3,256 1,328 4,584 4,780 1,328 6,108 2,087 1,233 3,320 3,470 1,233 4,703

other 9,458 - 9,458 9,938 - 9,938 9,458 - 9,458 9,938 - 9,938

Total non-current liabilities 12,714 1,328 14,042 1�4,004 993 1�4,997 11,�4� 1,233 12,778 13,408 1,233 14,641

Total liabilities 119,010 12,380 131,390 339,877 8,1�8 348,03� �7,8�1 1,826 �9,677 77,126 1,233 78,3�9

Net assets 14�,�29 (�,290) 140,239 16�,870 (11,209) 1�4,661 123,67� 1,139 124,814 141,287 3,981 14�,268

Equity

issued capital (j) 50,746 (1,371) 49,375 50,746 (1,371) 49,375 50,746 (1,371) 49,375 50,746 (1,371) 49,375

Reserves (g),(i) (995) (806) (1,801) 10,424 (14,341) (3,917) - (513) (513) - (128) (128)

Retained earnings 89,267 (3,113) 86,154 99,959 4,503 104,462 72,929 3,023 75,952 90,541 5,480 96,021

Total equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent 139,018 (�,290) 133,728 161,129 (11,209) 149,920 123,67� 1,139 124,814 141,287 3,981 14�,268

minority interest 6,511 - 6,511 4,741 - 4,741 - - - - - -

Total equity 14�,�29 (�,290) 140,239 16�,870 (11,209) 1�4,661 123,67� 1,139 124,814 141,287 3,981 14�,268

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Reconciliation of net profit for the year ended 30 June 200�

the following table sets out the adjustments to the income statements of the company and of the consolidated entity for the year 
ended 30 June 2005:

Consolidated 
 2005

Company 
2005

Amounts $000 Note Previous 
GAAP

Transition 
impact AIFRS Previous 

GAAP
Transition 

impact AIFRS

Revenue (i) 344,854 4,112 348,966 234,277 917 235,194

cost of sales (99,699) - (99,699) (91,886) - (91,886)

Gross profit 24�,1�� 4,112 249,267 142,391 917 143,308

other income 618 - 618 5,946 - 5,946

distribution, marketing and field technical expenses (c), (e), (f) (100,736) (232) (100,968) (15,016) (195) (15,211)

administration expenses (c), (e), (f), (j) (26,530) 1,268 (25,262) (19,117) (1,086) (20,203)

Research and development expenses (c), (e), (g) (43,760) 2,295 (41,465) (36,012) 2,293 (33,719)

Operating profit before financing income 74,747 7,443 82,190 78,192 1,929 80,121

Financial income 3,045 - 3,045 2,658 - 2,658

Financial expenses (2,928) - (2,928) (1,244) - (1,244)

Net financing income 117 - 117 1,414 - 1,414

Profit before tax 74,864 7,443 82,307 79,606 1,929 81,�3�

income tax expense (k) (21,512) (2,321) (23,833) (19,162) (1,185) (20,347)

Net profit (including minority interest) �3,3�2 �,122 �8,474 60,444 744 61,188

attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent �4,�20 �,122 �9,642 60,444 744 61,188

minority interest (1,168) - (1,168) - - -

Net profit �3,3�2 �,122 �8,474 60,444 744 61,188

Basic earnings per share (cents) 100.5 110.1

diluted earnings per share (cents) 100.5 109.7

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Summary of impact of transition to AIFRS on retained earnings

the impact of the transition to aiFRs on retained earnings as at 1 July 2004 and 30 June 2005 is summarised below: 

Consolidated Company

Amounts $000 1 July 2004 30 June 200� 1 July 2004 30 June 200�

Retained earnings under previous Gaap 89,267 99,959 72,929 90,541

AIFRS reconciliation

defined benefit asset 929 324 929 324

change in functional currency 513 128 513 128

capitalised development expenditure 3,149 6,263 3,149 6,263

consolidation of trust (celtip) 374 872 374 872

change to revenue recognition policies (11,083) (5,554) (917) -

make good costs on leases (153) (254) (107) (187)

impact of taxation 3,158 (397) (918) (1,920)

Reversal of goodwill amortisation - 3,121 - -

Retained earnings under AIFRS 86,1�4 104,462 7�,9�2 96,021

attributable to:

equity holders of the parent 85,527 102,667 75,952 96,021

minority interest 627 1,795 - -

the above changes increase/(decrease) the deferred tax liability as follows:

Consolidated Company

Amounts $000 1 July 2004 30 June 200� 1 July 2004 30 June 200�

capitalised development expenditure (945) (1,879) (945) (1,879)

defined benefit asset (278) (97) (278) (97)

make good costs on leases 46 76 32 56

Revenue recognition 4,337 2,920 275 -

identifiable intangible assets - (2,460) - -

Net increase/(decrease) in deferred taxes 3,160 (1,440) (916) (1,920)

32. Events subsequent to reporting date

other than the matters noted below, there has not arisen in the interval between reporting date and the date of this Financial 
Report, any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the company, to affect 
significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity 
in future financial years.

Dividends
For dividends declared after 30 June 2006, see note 7.

notes to the financial statements  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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in the opinion of the directors of cochlear limited:

(a) the financial statements, notes, and the remuneration disclosures contained in the Remuneration report in the directors Report, as set out 
on pages 5 to 59, are in accordance with the corporations act 2001, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and consolidated entity as at 30 June 2006 and of their 
performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date; and

 (ii) complying with australian accounting standards and the corporations Regulations 2001;

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 

(c)  the remuneration disclosures that are contained in sections of the Remuneration report in the directors’ Report comply with aasB 124 
Related Party Disclosures ; and

(d)   the directors have been given the declarations required by section 295a of the corporations act 2001 from the chief executive officer 
and the chief Financial officer for the year ended 30 June 2006.

dated at sydney this 15th day of august 2006.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

director      director
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Scope

The Financial Report, Remuneration disclosures and directors’ responsibility
the Financial Report comprises the income statements, statements of recognised income and expense, balance sheets, statement of cash 
flows, accompanying notes 1 to 32 to the Financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for both cochlear limited (the company) and 
cochlear limited and its controlled entities (the consolidated entity), for the year ended 30 June 2006.  the consolidated entity comprises 
both the company and the entities it controlled during that year.

as permitted by the corporations Regulations 2001, the company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and 
executives (“Remuneration disclosures”) required by australian accounting standard aasB 124 Relates party disclosures labelled “audited” 
under the heading “Remuneration Report” in the directors report and not in the Financial report.

the Remuneration Report also contains information not required by aasB 124 which is not subject to our audit.

the directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the Financial Report and the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with the corporations act 2001. this includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates 
inherent in the Financial Report.  the directors are also responsible for preparing the relevant reconciling information regarding the adjustments 
required under aasB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards. the directors are also 
responsible for the Remuneration disclosures contained in the director’s report.

Audit approach
We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company.  our audit was conducted in 
accordance with australian auditing standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material 
misstatement and that the remuneration disclosures comply with aasB 124. the nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use 
of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive 
evidence. therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the Financial Report presents fairly, in accordance with the corporations 
act 2001, australian accounting standards and other mandatory financial reporting requirements in australia, a view which is consistent with 
our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results of 
their operations and cash flows and whether the Remuneration disclosures comply with aasB 124.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Report; and

•  assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and 
extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

Audit opinion
in our opinion:

(1) the Financial Report of cochlear limited is in accordance with:

  (a) the corporations act 2001, including: 
 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of their 

performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

  (ii) complying with australian accounting standards and the corporations Regulations 2001; and

 (b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in australia; and

(2)   the Remuneration disclosures that are labelled as audited and contained in the Remuneration Report in the directors’ Report comply with 
aasB 124 Related party disclosures. 

KpmG      John Wigglesworth, par tner

sydney, 15 august 2006

independent audit Report  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Remuneration Report  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

Remuneration Committee

the Remuneration committee operates under delegated authority of the Board. the Remuneration committee approves the Remuneration 
policy and structure for executives and executive directors (senior executives) and makes recommendations to the Board on the total 
remuneration packages of each senior executive.

external advice on remuneration matters is obtained and is made available for the Remuneration committee.

Remuneration policies – audited

the Board recognises that cochlear’s performance is dependent on the quality of its people. to successfully achieve its financial and operating 
objectives in a complex and global environment, cochlear must be able to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled senior executives who 
are dedicated to the interests of shareholders. cochlear adopts a total remuneration approach for senior executives. the key principles that 
underpin cochlear’s Remuneration policy include:

• a competitive total Remuneration strategy provided to attract, motivate and retain senior executive talent;

•  a significant proportion (up to 50% of total fixed remuneration) of total senior executive remuneration linked to financial performance and business  
objectives, under the cochlear management short term incentive plan (cmstip); and

•  a significant proportion (up to 40% of total fixed remuneration) of total senior executive remuneration linked to the creation of long-term value  
for shareholders under the celtip.

the Remuneration policy assists cochlear to achieve its business strategy and objectives. the Remuneration committee recognises that, while 
remuneration is a key factor in recruiting the right people, it is not the only factor. cochlear’s corporate reputation, its ethical culture and values 
and its ability to provide interesting and challenging career opportunities, also play an important role.

Remuneration structure

Senior executives – audited
Remuneration of the senior executives is comprised of policies and programs under the following categories:

• total fixed remuneration made up of base salary and superannuation, retirement benefits and other incidental benefits; and

• variable remuneration made up of an annual short-term incentive plan and long-term incentives.

the remuneration structure is designed to strike a balance between fixed and variable remuneration. Variable remuneration is tied to 
performance and is at risk.

Service contracts – audited
cochlear does not enter into service contracts for senior executives, other than the ceo/president. senior executives operate under standard 
termination and redundancy conditions with the following exceptions. the president, asia pacific Region has a notice period of three months 
and the president, european Region has a notice period of six months. the president, european Region will receive a maximum of chF 30,000 
for repatriation costs in the case of termination or resignation.

the ceo/president’s conditions are set out separately in this Remuneration Report.

Base salary and benefits – audited
Base salaries are determined by reference to appropriate benchmark information, taking into account an individual’s responsibilities, 
performance, qualifications, experience and geographical location.

in addition to base salary, selected overseas based executives receive additional benefits including health insurance, a car allowance and a 
relocation allowance. in australia, retirement benefits are paid in line with the statutory superannuation Guarantee legislation levels. in July  
2005, members of the legacy defined benefit plan (plan) were given the opportunity to transfer to the accumulation fund with ongoing 
contributions based on the estimated required company contributions under the plan actuarial assessments to ensure that employees are  
not adversely prejudiced by the move. the transfer of all members was completed in the first half of the 2006 financial year. 

Globally, retirement benefits are paid in line with local legislation and practice.
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Variable remuneration – unaudited

the Board believes that well designed and managed short-term and long-term incentive plans are important elements of employee 
remuneration, providing tangible incentives for senior executives to achieve cochlear’s short-term and long-term performance goals. 
participation in these plans encourages greater involvement by senior executives to share in the future growth, prosperity and profitability  
of cochlear in a way that gives them a community of interest with shareholders. 

the proportions of variable remuneration opportunity vary for senior executives within cochlear, reflecting an individual’s responsibilities, 
performance and experience. 

Cochlear Management Short Term Incentive Plan – audited
short-term incentives for senior executives are determined under the cmstip. the short-term incentive is structured in such a way that a 
significant part of the senior executive’s package depends upon achievement of individual performance goals linked to the business objectives 
and the financial performance of cochlear. Financial measures include revenue and earnings before interest and taxes targets. short-term 
incentives are paid on both the half and full year results.

the percentage of total remuneration that is allocated to short-term incentives varies according to the senior executive’s position  
and the range is 30% – 50% of total fixed remuneration for achieving all budgeted targets. in years of exceptional performance, the short-term 
incentives could increase to 100% of total fixed remuneration.

the process of determining relevant performance measures and whether they are met is as follows:

•  at the beginning of the financial year, the Remuneration committee recommends to the Board the targets for the ceo/president and the other  
senior executives. these are dependent on financial objectives and agreement between the ceo/president and the senior executive on individual performance 
goals; and

•  the ceo/president and the other senior executives and then the ceo/president and chairman assess progress towards the financial and individual 
performance goals. the Remuneration committee reviews, and the Board approves, these assessments prior to any payment. 

the Remuneration committee also evaluates the proposed short-term incentive awards in aggregate and determines their appropriateness 
having regard to cochlear’s overall financial results. after this assessment, the Remuneration committee makes its recommendation to the 
Board for payment.

once approved by the Board, the short-term incentive awards are paid to participants. this occurs on a half and full year basis.

Cochlear Executive Long Term Incentive Plan – audited
the celtip was approved by shareholders at the 2003 annual General meeting (aGm). the celtip is designed to reward senior executives 
for achieving long-term growth in shareholder value. 

senior executives are offered a mixture of options (being options to acquire ordinary shares in cochlear limited) and performance shares 
(being units of fully paid ordinary shares in cochlear limited). 

the number of options and performance shares offered to a senior executive depends on their fixed remuneration and cochlear’s target 
remuneration package for the senior executive’s position. the mixture of options and performance shares is determined at the discretion of 
the Board, having regard to the senior executive’s role. 

the exercise price of the options is based on the weighted average price of cochlear limited’s shares traded during the five business days 
following the date of the provision of the final preliminary report to the australian stock exchange (asX) in august each year. all options refer 
to options over ordinary shares of cochlear limited. each option is convertible to one ordinary share. each performance share equates to one 
ordinary share. all performance shares are ordinary shares of cochlear limited. 

Remuneration Report  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Both the options and performance shares are subject to performance hurdles and vesting restrictions, which will ultimately determine 
the final number of options that will be exercisable and the number of performance shares receivable by a senior executive. the 
relevant performance hurdles and vesting restrictions are:

• a three year vesting period – during which time the senior executive will be unable to exercise the options or trade the performance shares; and

•  the performance of cochlear over the vesting period – measured by using growth in earnings per share (eps) and total shareholder return (tsR) as measured 
against the s&p/asX 100 index comparator group. half the offer will be assessed against eps growth and the other half using tsR growth as follows: 

Compound annual growth rate of EPS over a three year period  Ranking of TSR growth rate against S&P/ASX 100  
index comparator group over a three year period  

Performance % of options and performance shares vesting Performance % of options and performance shares vesting

<10% 0% <50th percentile 0%

10% to 20% 50% to 100% pro-rata 50th to 75th percentile 50% to 100% pro-rata

>20% 100% >75th percentile 100%

options and performance shares only vest if the performance hurdles and time qualifications are met.

there are no voting or dividend rights attached to options. there are no voting rights attached to the unissued ordinary shares.  
Voting rights will be attached to the unissued ordinary shares when the options have been exercised. performance shares are held  
in trust for the senior executives. dividends paid to the trust are subsequently paid to the relevant senior executives. Voting rights are 
not transferred. Voting rights are attached to the performance shares once ownership is transferred. any dividends paid on performance 
shares that are subsequently forfeited are not paid to the senior executive. 

Performance of Cochlear in current CELTIP cycle – unaudited

depicted in the char ts below is a comparison of basic eps for financial years 2002 to 2006 and the tsR performance of cochlear 
relative to the s&p/asX 100 index from financial years 2002 to 2006:

For the year ended 30 June 2006, the growth in basic eps was 33% and the total return to cochlear limited shareholders (as measured 
from the change in share price plus dividends paid) was 42%.

in considering cochlear’s performance and growth in shareholder value, the remuneration policies have regard to the following amounts 
in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial years:

 Amounts $ 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

net profit attributable to equity holders of 
the parent (million)

80.0 59.6 36.8 58.2 40.1

dividends paid (million) 49.1 42.8 42.3 33.3 26.8

share price 54.63 39.20 22.72 32.30 34.05

net profit amounts for years 2002 to 2004 were calculated in accordance with previous australian Generally accepted accounting principles 
(previous Gaap). net profit for 2005 and 2006 has been calculated in accordance with aiFRs. net profit reported for 2005 under previous 
Gaap was $54.5 million. For the impact on net profit of transition to aiFRs, see note 31 to the financial statements.

Remuneration Report  cochlear limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Executive Share Option Plan – audited

the esop was replaced by the celtip in 2003. the final esop allocation vested in september 2005. the esop covers all options granted 
to senior executives prior to the 2004 financial year. under the esop, each option is convertible to one ordinary share. the exercise price of 
options is based on the opening price of cochlear limited’s shares sold in the ordinary course of trading on the asX on the date the offer of 
the options was made. options have a three year vesting period, and must be exercised within a month of vesting (expiry date). 

all options under the esop lapse on the earlier of the expiry date or termination of the employee’s employment. options do not vest until 
three years after granting and thereafter the number of options exercisable depends on the compound annual growth rate of eps achieved by 
cochlear over a three year period. three levels of growth have been set which determine the number of options, which are exercisable in any 
particular year. if the minimum compound annual growth rate of 10% in eps is not achieved, no options can be exercised. to achieve a 100% 
allocation, a compound annual growth rate of 18% in eps over the three year period must be achieved. 

there were no voting or dividend rights attached to the options.

Executive directors – audited

at the date of this Remuneration Report, there are two executive directors in office.

dr cG Roberts was appointed to the Board on 1 February 2004 at the time of his appointment as ceo/president.

dr Jl parker was appointed to the Board on 19 march 2002. dr Jl parker is the company’s chief technology officer.

Dr CG Roberts
dr cG Roberts has been appointed for a fixed term of three years from the commencement date of 1 February 2004. if cochlear terminates 
dr cG Roberts’ employment without cause before the end of the term, he will be entitled to receive an amount equivalent to the total fixed 
remuneration he would have received during the balance of the term.

dr cG Roberts participates in the cmstip at a value equal to 50% of total fixed remuneration.

dr cG Roberts participates to a value equal to 40% of total fixed remuneration under the celtip.  this is in the form of 75% options and 
25% performance shares.

Dr JL Parker
dr Jl parker is not subject to any service contract and operates under standard employment termination and redundancy conditions.

dr Jl parker participates in the cmstip  at a value equal to 30% of total fixed remuneration.

dr Jl parker participates to a value equal to 30% of total fixed remuneration under the celtip.  this is in the form of 75% options and 25% 
performance shares.

Non-executive directors – audited

Fees for non-executive directors are based on the nature of the directors’ work and their responsibilities. the remuneration rates reflect the 
complexity of cochlear and the extent of the geographical regions in which cochlear operates. in determining the level of fees, survey data 
on comparable companies has been considered. non-executive directors’ fees are recommended by the Remuneration committee and 
determined by the Board. shareholders approve the aggregate amount of non-executive director fees.

Fees for non-executive directors were increased by 5% during the financial year with effect from 1 July 2005. Fees are within the aggregate 
amount approved by shareholders at the aGm in october 2004 of $1,000,000 a year.

the chairman of cochlear is mr tce Bergman. his director’s fees are set at three times the base fee for non-executive directors. he does not 
receive any additional fees for serving on committee’s of the Board. 

From 2003, no new non-executive director has been entitled to join the cochlear limited directors’ retirement scheme. non-executive 
directors appointed prior to this are members of the scheme, which provides directors with more than five years service retirement benefits in 
line with the conditions detailed in the corporations act 2001 and set out on page 66.

non-executive directors do not receive any performance related remuneration, options or performance shares.

there are no commitments to non-executive directors arising from non-cancellable contracts with the company.
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Directors’ and senior executives’ remuneration details – audited

the following table provides the details of all directors and the executives of cochlear with the greatest authority (Key management 
personnel), and each of the five named officers of the company and consolidated entity receiving the highest remuneration. 
comparatives are as disclosed in the 2005 Remuneration Report.

details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration are:

Amounts $ Year Short-term Post-employment Other 
long-
term

      Equity compensation(i),(iv) Total Performance 
related 

remuneration 
as proportion 

of total %

Value of 
equity 

compensation 
as 

proportion of 
remuneration 

%

Salary  
and fees

Bonuses(i) Non-
monetary 
benefits(ii)

Total Super- 
annuation 

benefits

Leaving 
benefits(iii)

Total Long  
service 

leave

Value of 
options

Value of 
perform-

ance shares

Total

Directors

Non-executive

mr tce Bergman
chairman 2006 252,000 - - 252,000 12,139 257,365 269,504 - - - - 521,504 - -

2005 240,000 - - 240,000 11,585 202,037 213,622 - - - - 453,622 - -

mr pR Bell
(appointed 1 august 2005) 2006 115,073 - - 115,073 10,356 - 10,356 - - - - 125,429 - -

prof e Byrne, ao 2006 100,000 - - 100,000 9,000 65,561 74,561 - - - - 174,561 - -

2005 96,000 - - 96,000 8,640 79,131 87,771 - - - - 183,771 - -

mr R holliday-smith 2006 128,000 - - 128,000 11,520 - 11,520 - - - - 139,520 - -

2005 39,738 - - 39,738 3,576 - 3,576 - - - - 43,314 - -

mr pJ north, am 2006 109,000 - - 109,000 9,810 24,000 33,810 - - - - 142,810 - -

2005 105,000 - - 105,000 9,450 42,000 51,450 - - - - 156,450 - -

mr dp o’dwyer
(appointed 1 august 2005) 2006 109,365 - - 109,365 9,843 - 9,843 - - - - 119,208 - -

mr Jh Veeneklaas 2006 100,000 - - 100,000 9,000 26,500 35,500 - - - - 135,500 - -

2005 96,000 - - 96,000 8,640 40,875 49,515 - - - - 145,515 - -

prof Bdo anderson, 
ao
(retired 20 october 2005) 2006 32,308 - - 32,308 2,908 8,492 11,400 - - - - 43,708 - -

2005 96,000 - - 96,000 8,640 40,875 49,515 - - - - 145,515 - -

Executive

dr cG Roberts
ceo/president 2006 750,750 403,155 - 1,153,905 12,139 - 12,139 8,842 186,988 62,699 249,687 1,424,573 45.8% 17.5%

2005 719,313 648,359 - 1,367,672 11,585 - 11,585 5,290 129,212 37,343 166,555 1,551,102 52.5% 10.7%

dr Jl parker (ii)

chief technology officer 2006 346,653 117,421 181,992 646,066 12,139 - 12,139 11,660 66,441 28,383 94,824 764,689 27.8% 12.4%

2005 323,250 128,512 - 451,762 11,585 - 11,585 10,475 33,143 9,576 42,719 516,541 33.1% 8.3%

Total 
directors

2006 2,043,149 �20,�76 181,992 2,74�,717 98,8�4 381,918 480,772 20,�02 2�3,429 91,082 344,�11 3,�91,�02

200� 1,715,301 776.871 - 2,492,172 73,701 404,918 478,619 1�,76� 162,3�� 46,919 209,274 3,19�,830
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Amounts $ Year    Short-term Post-employment Other 
long-
term

      Equity compensation(i), (iv) Total Performance 
related 

remuneration 
as proportion 

of total %

Value of 
equity 

compensation  
as 

proportion of 
remuneration 

%

Salary  
and fees

Bonuses(i) Non-
monetary 
benefits(ii)

Total Super- 
annuation 

benefits

Leaving 
benefits(iii)

Total Long  
service 

leave

Value of 
options

Value of 
perform-

ance shares

Total

Executives 

Consolidated Entity

mr R Brook(v),(vi),(vii)

president, european Region 2006 328,512 128,896 66,482 523,890 17,370 - 17,370 - 85,124 36,267 121,391 662,651 37.8% 18.3%

2005 314,245 174,961 64,956 554,162 37,379 - 37,379 - 43,041 12,438 55,479 647,020 35.6% 8.6%

mr nJ mitchell(v),(vi),(viii)

chief Financial officer and 
company secretary 2006 301,433 115,364 - 416,797 67,280 - 67,280 11,887 63,010 26,767 89,777 585,741 35.0% 15.3%

2005 266,491 118,565 - 385,056 45,871 - 45,871 10,775 30,577 8,836 39,413 481,115 32.8% 8.2%

mr md salmon(v),(vi),(viii)

president, asia pacific 
Region 2006 333,397 108,719 - 442,116 12,139 - 12,139 3,119 52,744 17,753 70,497 527,871 34.0% 13.4%

2005 297,161 91,685 - 388,846 10,917 - 10,917 1,630 30,592 8,840 39,432 440,825 29.7% 8.9%

mr cm smith(v),(vi),(vii)

president, americas Region 2006 442,478 172,289 22,804 637,571 17,431 - 17,431 - 136,451 9,977 146,428 801,430 39.8% 18.3%

2005 415,520 175,407 157,185 748,112 10,323 - 10,323 - 130,398 - 130,398 888,833 34.4% 14.7%

mr h yoshikawa(v),(vii)

General manager and 
Representative director, 
Japan 2006 290,292 90,559 21,941 402,792 40,416 - 40,416 - 12,285 11,111 23,396 466,604 24.4% 5.0%

2005 300,074 96,776 22,757 419,607 39,296 - 39,296 - - 3,525 3,525 462,428 21.7%

Company

mr mc Kavanagh(v)

senior Vice president, 
Global marketing 2006 276,961 92,127 - 369,088 12,139 - 12,139 7,154 54,287 23,484 77,771 466,152 36.4% 16.7%

2005 272,471 102,573 - 375,044 11,585 - 11.585 2,661 27,211 7,863 35,074 424,364 32.6% 8.3%

mr dn morris(v),(ix)

president, Bone  
anchored solutions 2006 276,007 93,939 - 369,946 12,139 - 12,139 5,483 56,152 23,442 79,594 467,162 37.1% 17.0%

mr JF patrick(v)

senior Vice president, 
chief scientist 2006 246,840 89,467 - 336,307 38,549 - 38,549 - 53,457 23,057 76,514 451,370 36.8% 17.0%

2005 228,224 101,696 - 329,920 39,621 - 39,621 - 26,411 7,624 34,035 403,576 33.6% 8.4%

mr dW howitt(x)

senior Vice president, 
manufacturing and logistics 2005 244,007 93,580 - 337,587 11,585 - 11,585 8,260 24,258 7,010 31,268 388,700 32.8% 8.0%

Total 
executives

2006 2,495,920 891,360 111,227 3,498,�07 217,463 - 217,463 27,643 �13,�10 171,8�8 68�,368 4,428,981

200� 2,338,193 9��,243 244,898 3,�38,334 206,�77 - 206,�77 23,326 312,488 �6,136 368,624 4,136,861

(i)  short-term and long-term incentive bonuses are granted annually. the grant date is tied to the performance appraisal, which, for the current year was completed by 30 June 2006.  
the service and performance criteria are set out in this report.

(ii) Benefits include the provision of car allowances, health insurance and relocation costs.

(iii)  amounts accrued during the financial year to the directors’ retirement scheme. Refer to note 28 to the financial statements for further information.

(iv)  the value disclosed above is the proportion of the fair value of the options and performance shares allocated to the reporting period. the ability to exercise the options and performance shares is conditional 
on cochlear achieving certain performance hurdles. the estimated value of options for the current financial year is calculated at the date of grant using the Black-scholes model applying a 25% volatility, as 
reflected in the historical volatility. Further details of options granted during the financial year are set out below.

(v)  executive is included as one of the five named company executives or consolidated entity who received the highest remuneration in the current financial year in accordance with section 300a of the 
corporations act 2001.

(vi) executive is included as a key management person in accordance with aasB 124 Related party disclosures.

(vii) denotes overseas based executive.

(viii) denotes consolidated entity and company executives.

(ix) not included in company top five executives in 2005.

(x) not included in company top five executives in 2006.
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Exercise of options granted as remuneration – audited

during the reporting period, the following shares were issued on the exercise of options previously granted as compensation:

Number of shares Amount paid $/share

Executive director

dr Jl parker 25,000 38.12

Executives

mr nJ mitchell 25,000 38.12

mr JF patrick 25,000 38.12

mr h yoshikawa 5,000 38.12

during the previous financial year, nil options were exercised as the relevant eps and tsR hurdles were not acheived.

there are no amounts unpaid on the shares issued as a result of the exercise of the options in 2005 or 2006.

Analysis of bonuses included in remuneration – unaudited

details of the vesting profile of the short-term incentive awarded as remuneration to each executive director of the company and each of the 
five named company executives and relevant consolidated entity executives are detailed below:

Amounts $    Short-term incentive bonus

Included in remuneration % vested in the financial year(i) % forfeited during the financial year(ii)

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts 403,155 105.7% -

dr Jl parker 117,421 107.5% -

Executives 

Consolidated Entity

mr R Brook 128,896 98.1% 1.9%

mr nJ mitchell 115,364 107.5% -

mr md salmon 108,719 104.0% -

mr cm smith 172,289 130.3% -

mr h yoshikawa 90,559 104.0% -

Company

mr mc Kavanagh 92,127 106.0% -

mr dn morris 93,939 107.1% -

mr JF patrick 89,467 107.5% -

(i)  amounts included in vested short-term incentives for the financial year represent the amounts that vested in the financial year based on achievement of personal goals and specified financial goals. amounts 
exceeding 100% indicate performance above target. no amounts vest in future financial years in respect of the cmstip for the financial year.

(ii) the amounts forfeited in short-term incentives are due to personal and financial goals not being met in the financial year.
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Analysis of share based payments granted as remuneration – unaudited

details of the vesting profile of the options and performance shares granted as remuneration to each director of the company and each of 
the five named company executives and relevant consolidated entity executives are below:

Options Performance shares

Date of grant Financial years in 
which grant vests

Number 
granted

% vested 
in 

financial 
year

% forfeited 
in financial 

year(i)

Value yet to vest Number 
granted

% vested 
in 

financial 
year

% forfeited 
in financial 

year(i)

Value yet to vest

Min(ii)$ Max(iii)$ Min(ii)$ Max(iii)$

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts 23 august 2004 30 June 2008 164,321 - - nil 723,874 10,595 - - nil 209,206

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 79,468 - - nil 374,238 5,923 - - nil 128,722

dr Jl parker 1 september 2002 30 June 2006 50,000 50% 50% nil nil - - - - -

1 december 2003 30 June 2007 20,584 - - nil 40,841 2,648 - - nil 37,688

23 august 2004 30 June 2008 42,149 - - nil 185,677 2,717 - - nil 53,649

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 28,447 - - nil 133,965 2,120 - - nil 46,073

Executives 

Consolidated Entity

mr R Brook 1 december 2003 30 June 2007 26,046 - - nil 51,679 3,350 - - nil 47,680

23 august 2004 30 June 2008 54,736 - - nil 241,126 3,529 - - nil 69,683

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 36,138 - - nil 160,481 2,694 - - nil 55,209

mr nJ mitchell 1 september 2002 30 June 2006 50,000 50% 50% nil nil - - - - -

1 december 2003 30 June 2007 18,961 - - nil 37,622 2,439 - - nil 34,714

23 august 2004 30 June 2008 38,886 - - nil 171,303 2,507 - - nil 49,569

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 27,949 - - nil 131,620 2,083 - - nil 45,269

mr md salmon 23 august 2004 30 June 2008 38,904 - - nil 171,382 2,508 - - nil 49,522

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 27,174 - - nil 145,383 2,025 - - nil 49,996

mr cm smith 23 august 2004 30 June 2008 165,830 - - nil 730,522 - - - - -

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 28,646 - - nil 157,845 2,135 - - nil 54,290

mr h yoshikawa 1 september 2002 30 June 2006 10,000 50% 50% nil nil - - - - -

1 december 2003 30 June 2007 - - - - - 1,000 - - nil 14,233

23 august 2004 30 June 2008 - - - - - 1,000 - - nil 19,746

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 12,120 - - nil 64,843 903 - - nil 22,295

Company

mr mc Kavanagh 1 december 2003 30 June 2007 17,836 - - nil 35,389 2,294 - - nil 32,649

23 august 2004 30 June 2008 34,605 - - nil 152,443 2,231 - - nil 44,053

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 22,635 - - nil 106,595 1,687 - - nil 36,663

mr dn morris 1 december 2003 30 June 2007 15,600 - - nil 30,953 2,439 - - nil 34,714

23 august 2004 30 June 2008 30,269 - - nil 133,328 2,507 - - nil 61,978

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 22,843 - - nil 102,793 1,703 - - nil 35,366

mr JF patrick 1 september 2002 30 June 2006 50,000 50% 50% nil nil - - - - -

1 december 2003 30 June 2007 17,325 - - nil 34,376 2,228 - - nil 31,710

23 august 2004 30 June 2008 33,588 - - nil 147,963 2,163 - - nil 42,710

22 august 2005 30 June 2009 22,718 - - nil 106,986 1,693 - - nil 36,793

(i)  the percentage forfeited in the financial year represents the reduction from the maximum number of options and performance shares available to vest due to the highest level performance criteria not being 
achieved.

(ii)  the minimum value of options and performance shares yet to vest is nil as the performance criteria may not be met and consequently the options and performance shares may not vest.

(iii)   the maximum value of options and performance shares yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of shares of the company on the asX at the date the option and performance 
shares vest. the maximum values disclosed above are based on the valuations as per this report.
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Analysis of movements in options – unaudited

the movement of values during the reporting period of options over ordinary shares of cochlear limited held by each company director and 
each of the five named company executives and relevant consolidated entity executives is detailed below:

Value of options

Amounts $ Granted in year(i) Exercised in year(ii) Forefeited in year(ii) Total option value in year

Executive directors

dr cG Roberts 374,238 - - 374,238

dr Jl parker 133,965 68,000 68,000 269,965

Executives

Consolidated Entity

mr R Brook 160,481 - - 160,481

mr nJ mitchell 131,620 68,000 68,000 267,620

mr md salmon 145,383 - - 145,383

mr cm smith 157,845 - - 157,845

mr h yoshikawa 64,843 13,600 13,600 92,043

Company

mr dn morris 102,793 - - 102,793

mr mc Kavanagh 106,595 - - 106,595

mr JF patrick 106,986 68,000 68,000 242,986

(i)  the value of options granted in the year is the fair value of options calculated at grant date using a Black-scholes model. the total value of the options granted is included in the table above. this amount is 
allocated to remuneration over the vesting period (ie in years 30 June 2006 to 30 June 2009).

(ii)  the value of options exercised and forfeited during the year is calculated as the market price of shares of the company on the asX as at close of trading on the date the options were exercised after 
deducting the price paid or payable to exercise the option.

other items – unaudited

Unissued shares under option

as at the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the company under options are:

Number of options Plan Exercise price per share Exercise period

192,761 celtip $34.19 august 2006 – september 2008

715,540 celtip $18.97 august 2007 – september 2009

725,903 celtip $39.93 august 2008 – september 2010

the closing share price at 30 June 2006 was $54.63.

during the financial year, the company granted 725,903 options over ordinary shares to employees under the celtip.  the options  
are exercisable in the two years following lodgement with the asX of the company’s preliminary financial report for the year ending  
30 June 2008. the number of options which will be exercisable is dependent on the performance measures and retention requirements  
set out in this Remuneration Report.

during the year, 513,500 options granted by the company were forfieted.
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